Wiltshire Council
——

SUMMONS

Meeting:  Full Council

Place: Access the online meeting here
Date: Wednesday 9 September 2020
Time: 10.30 am

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Kieran Elliott, of Democratic Services,
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718504 or email
kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk



https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/ap/t-59584e83/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_MzM3OTUzNTYtMzFjMi00MThmLTkyMDUtN2UxNjI4NWZkYWU4%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%25225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522f952b8db-3093-4726-8828-82a585be1f4f%2522%252c%2522IsBroadcastMeeting%2522%253atrue%257d&data=02%7C01%7CKieran.Elliott%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7Ca988ccda55644502b4f608d84b37a7e0%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637342049694548954&sdata=XQUYvYk4Jo3T4vNCFm9D4ia2zkP5RjNQFpxN0jmLbnY%3D&reserved=0
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/

Recording and Broadcasting Information

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the
Council’'s website. At the start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of
the meeting is being recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for
training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting, you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of those
images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they accept
that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in relation to any
such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’'s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.

Page 2


https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=14031

PART I
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public
Apologies
To receive any apologies for the meeting.
Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by
the Standards Committee.

Announcements by the Chairman
To receive any announcements through the Chair.

Public Participation

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. During the
ongoing Covid-19 situation the Council is operating revised procedures and the
public are able participate in meetings online after registering with the officer
named on this agenda, and in accordance with the deadlines below.

As this is an extraordinary meeting convened to specifically consider
Community Governance Reviews, in accordance with the Constitution
guestions, statements and petitions can only be accepted in respect of
this item of business.

Guidance on how to participate in this meeting online.

Statements

Members of the public who wish to submit a statement in relation to an item on
this agenda should submit this electronically to the officer named on this agenda
no later than 5pm on 4 September 2020.

Each statement must:

e State whom the statement is from (including if representing another
person or organisation);

e state points clearly, and;
e be readable aloud in approximately 3 minutes.

The Chairman has agreed that up to 3 speakers may submit a statement for
each recommendation that is scheduled to be considered under Item 7.

Questions

Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such
guestions electronically to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later
than 5pm on 2 September 2020 in order to be guaranteed of a written

Page 3


https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Guidance%20on%20Public%20Participation%20in%20Online%20Meeting&ID=4563&RPID=22540945

response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no
later than 5pm on 4 September 2020.

Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice.
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter
is urgent. Details of any questions received will be circulated to members prior to
the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council's website;
they will be taken as read at the meeting.

MOTIONS AND QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS
Notices of Motion
No Notices of Motion have been received for this meeting.
Members' Questions

As this is an extraordinary meeting of Council, and in accordance with the
Council’'s Constitution, questions can only be accepted in relation to the items on
this agenda.

Members were required to give notice of any such question in writing to the
officer names on the first page of this agenda no later than 5pm nine clear
working days before the meeting, 25 August 2020, in order to be guaranteed a
written response.

Any question received after 5pm on 25 August 2020 and no later than 5pm four
clear working days before the meeting, 2 September 2020, may only receive a
verbal response at the meeting. Any questions received after this date will be
received at the next meeting. Questions may be asked without notice if the
Chairman determines the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Members prior to the
meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE ELECTORAL REVIEW COMMITTEE
Community Governance Review 2019-20 (Pages 7 - 84)
A report from the Director of Legal and Governance is attached.

To consider the Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee for
the Community Governance Review 2019-20 as follows:

7a) Recommendation 1 - Salisbury and Netherhampton

7b) Recommendation 2 - Salisbury

7c) Recommendation 3 - Chippenham, Lacock and Langley Burrell
Without

7d) Recommendation 4 - Chippenham Without and Kington St Michael

Page 4



7e)
7f)
79)
7h)
7i)
7))
7K)
71)

7m)

Recommendation 5 - Manningford and Woodborough
Recommendation 6 - Pewsey

Recommendation 7 - Wilcot and Pewsey

Recommendation 8 - Wilcot and Huish

Recommendation 9 - Calne Without: Derry Hill and Studley
Recommendation 10 - Calne Without: Warding
Recommendation 11 - Trowbridge and North Bradley
Recommendation 12 - Melksham Merger

Recommendation 13 - Melksham and Melksham Without

Parish Name Change Review (Pages 85 - 92)

A report from the Director of Legal and Governance is attached.

To consider recommendations from the Electoral Review Committee to change
the names of three parishes.

PART I

Items during consideration of which it is recommended that the public should be
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed.

None

Terence Herbert
Chief Executive
Wiltshire Council
Bythesea Road
Trowbridge
Wiltshire

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Wiltshire Council
Full Council

9 September 2020

Community Governance Review 2019/20

Summary

To consider the Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee in
respect of the Community Governance Review which commenced on 1 November
2019.

Proposals
That Council,

1) Approve the changes to community governance arrangements as set out
below as recommended and detailed by the Electoral Review Committee
in the Final Recommendations:

i Recommendation 1 — Salisbury and Netherhampton;
ii. Recommendation 2 — Salisbury;
iii. Recommendation 3 — Chippenham, Langley Burrell Without and

Lacock;
Iv. Recommendation 4 — Kington St Michael and Chippenham Without;
V. Recommendation 5 — Manningford and Woodborough;
Vi. Recommendation 6 — Pewsey;
Vil. Recommendation 7 — Wilcot and Pewsey;
viii. Recommendation 8 — Wilcot and Huish;
iX. Recommendation 9 — Calne Without: Derry Hill and Studley;
X. Recommendation 10 — Calne Without: Warding;
Xi. Recommendation 11 — North Bradley and Trowbridge;
Xii. Recommendation 12 — Melksham;
Xiii. Recommendation 13 — Melksham Without and Melksham.

2) To authorise the Solicitor of the Council to take all necessary measures to
make and approve the Community Governance Order(s) to bring into
effect for 1 April 2021 all of the changes detailed under paragraph 1,
subject to any required consents by the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England,;

3) To authorise the Electoral Registration Officer to make any necessary
changes to polling districts to bring them into line with the agreed
governance changes, to be reported to the Electoral Review Committee.

Reason for Proposals

To ensure effective and convenient local governance and reflect community interest
and identity

lan Gibbons, Director of Legal and Governance

Page 7



Wiltshire Council
Full Council

9 September 2020

Community Governance Review 2019/20

Purpose

. To consider the Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee.

Background

. A Community Governance Review is a process wherein a principal authority can adjust
the governance arrangements of parishes within its council area. This can include
amending the number of councillors or wards, the external boundaries, or even the
creation/merger/abolition/grouping of entire parishes.

. The Electoral Review Committee (“The Committee”) has delegated authority from Full
Council to oversee any review process in accordance with paragraphs 2.10.7-2.10.9 of
Part 3B of the Constitution. This includes setting the scope for any review, its
methodology, timescales, and preparing recommendations for consideration by Full
Council.

. Following a pre-review period of communication with parishes, and in response to
requests and a petition, the Committee at its meeting on 31 October 2019 published
terms of reference for a Community Governance Review to begin on 1 November 2019
(“The Review”). The timetable for the Review within the terms of reference was updated
by the Director of Legal, Electoral and Registration Services under delegated authority
granted by the Committee, in February 2020 and May 2020.

. The parishes included within the Review were: Chippenham, Chippenham Without,
Hilperton, Huish, Kington St Michael, Lacock, Langley Burrell Without, Manningford,
Melksham, Melksham Without, Netherhampton, North Bradley, Pewsey, Salisbury,
Seend, Southwick, Trowbridge, West Ashton, Wilcot, Woodborough and Yatton Keynell.

Main Considerations

Pre-consultation

. In accordance with the terms of reference, during Stage One of the Review additional
proposals for the areas set out in Paragraph 5 were sought. During Stage Two the
Committee undertook pre-consultation information gathering. This included:

¢ Notes of sessions between representatives of the Committee and affected unitary
members and parishes on 4,5,10,11 and 18 December 2019.

e Public meetings on 20, 22 January and 5,14 February 2020

e A physical and online survey of those potentially impacted by proposals, with 522
responses validly received.

e Emailed representations

Page 8



7. The Committee considered all the relevant information including session notes, proposal
details, parish council responses and public representations by email, post or online
survey, and agreed Draft Recommendations to be consulted upon at its meeting on 24
March 2020.

Consultation
8. The Committee agreed to write once again to those residents in areas potentially
subject to change in May 2020 for the consultation on the Draft Recommendations.

9. Taking account of the Covid-19 situation, the timetable for the consultation was
extended and took place from 15 May to 10 July 2020. This included briefing notes,
press releases, an online survey and physical surveys. The letter sent to residents
outlined each recommendation and advised where more detailed information could be
found or requested, and how a response could be made by those without internet
access under Covid-19 restrictions. Due to the ongoing restrictions, specific public
facing meetings were not possible.

10.In that context, in which parish councils, electors and other interested parties have had
multiple opportunities to make representations on possible options, and having
contacted potentially affected parties directly on multiple occasions beyond the
requirements of the Act and guidance, it is considered reasonable to proceed with the
Community Governance Review process and that appropriate consultation has taken
place.

11.In particular, it is noted that a decision would need to be made this year for changes to
take effect for the next unitary and parish elections in May 2021. A failure to do so in
some cases could be detrimental to effective and convenient local governance and/or
community identity or interests, and therefore the resolution of this is an essential need
for some areas.

12.The Council’'s approach reflects a similar approach to that of the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England, which has also undertaken consultations during the
Covid-19 pandemic.

13.The Committee considered all the relevant information including all public
representations by email, post or online survey, and agreed Final Recommendations at
its meeting on 13 August 2020.

Statutory Criteria

14.1n preparing Final recommendations the Committee took account of the statutory criteria
for reviews and the need to ensure that community governance within the areas under
review:

¢ Reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area, and
¢ |s effective and convenient.

15. Council tax precept levels would not be a valid criterion to approve or disapprove of a
proposal.

Page 9



16.The Committee also took account of the statutory guidance provided by the Secretary of
State and the Local Government Boundary Commission for England.

Electorate Forecasting

17.The guidance on Community Governance Reviews has been included as a background
paper. That guidance makes clear that the principal council ‘must also consider any
change in the number or distribution of electors which is likely to occur in the period of
five years beginning with the day when the review starts’.

18.The guidance further states that ‘planning assumptions and likely growth within the
area, based on planning permissions granted, local plans or, where they are in place,
local development frameworks, should be used to project an accurate five-year
electorate forecast. This ensures that the review does not simply reflect a single
moment, but takes account of expected population movements in the short to medium
term’.

19. Considering the entire guidance document as a whole and in context, the Council is
satisfied, as in previous reviews, that consideration of future projections is a relevant
factor.

20.The Council has utilised electorate projections as utilised by the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England for the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council, the
Order for which is due to receive parliamentary approval on 16 March 2020. The figures
were provided as part of the pre-consultation process. Where appropriate the figures
were updated in early 2020 in relation to housing projections for development sites. A
forecast is not a guarantee, however it is a way to ensure decisions are made based on
the best information known at the time as to likely future needs. There is no empirical
evidence to suggest that the forecasts used at the beginning of the review process can
no longer be relied upon.

21.1t is also be noted that on 25 February 2020 the Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan
was adopted by Full Council.

Neighbourhood Plans

22.Comments were received during the consultation relating to Neighbourhood
Development Plans (NDP) and how these might impact a Community Governance
Review. NDPs are a separate process to Community Governance Reviews. NDP
policies would remain in place and be able to be enforced for the designated area even
if some of that land becomes part of a different parish.

23.1n the specific case of an NDP which is at an advanced stage of preparation having
completed its regulation 16 consultation, undergone examination and is awaiting
confirmation by a referendum (following the Council as a local planning authority issuing
a decision for it to proceed), significant weight in planning terms would already be given.
This would not change as a result of any Community Governance Review, nor would
such a review undermine any adopted planning policies or status of the emerging NDP.
Matters of community interests which could include the NDP would be a factor to be
considered during a Community Governance Review, but would not be determinative.

Page 10



24.Where an area is moved between parish boundaries as part of a Community
Governance Review, and this area is subject to a NDP referendum as part of the
designated plan area, these residents would remain entitled to vote on the NDP
referendum.

Safeguarding Implications

25.There are no safeguarding implications.
Public Health Implications

26.There are no public health implications.
Procurement Implications

27.There are no procurement implications.
Equalities Implications

28.There are no equalities implications.
Environmental and Climate Change Implications

29.There are no environmental implications.
Workforce Implications

30.There are no workforce implications.
Financial Implications

31. Additional consultation would incur additional resources, in particular in relation to the
cost of physically mailing those affected in certain areas if appropriate.

Legal Implications

32.The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 gives the Council the
power to undertake CGRs and sets out the criteria for such reviews. There is also
statutory guidance on the conduct of such reviews that the Council would have to
comply with.

33.As several recommendations impact areas recently adjusted by the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England as consequential changes following their Electoral
Review of Wiltshire Council, they would need to consent to any draft Community
Governance Order involving those areas.

34.Should they consent to such an order, the Council would at that point be able to formally
request Electoral Division changes, where this was appropriate following a community
governance change.

35. A confirmation of the legal position of Community Governance Reviews and
Neighbourhood Plans had been incorporated into the forming of this report and the
advice in paragraphs 22-24 above.

Risks

36. A failure to consult appropriately or provide appropriate reasoning for any decision to
change governance arrangements would be potentially vulnerable to challenge. If a

Page 11



decision is not made by Full Council at this meeting, any changes may not be enacted
in time for the May 2021 elections.

Options

37.Council may approve or not approve any of the Final Recommendations. The Council
may only approve proposals which have been consulted upon. If minded to approve an
alternative proposal Council would need to instruct the Committee to undertake
additional consultation before it could be approved.

Proposal

That Council,

1) Approve the changes to community governance arrangements as set out below
as recommended and detailed by the Electoral Review Committee in the Final
Recommendations:

i Recommendation 1 — Salisbury and Netherhampton;
ii. Recommendation 2 — Salisbury;
iii. Recommendation 3 — Chippenham, Langley Burrell Without and

Lacock;
Iv. Recommendation 4 — Kington St Michael and Chippenham Without;
V. Recommendation 5 — Manningford and Woodborough;
Vi. Recommendation 6 — Pewsey;
Vil. Recommendation 7 — Wilcot and Pewsey;
Viil. Recommendation 8 — Wilcot and Huish;
iX. Recommendation 9 — Calne Without: Derry Hill and Studley;
X. Recommendation 10 — Calne Without: Warding;
Xi. Recommendation 11 — North Bradley and Trowbridge;
Xii. Recommendation 12 — Melksham,;
Xiii. Recommendation 13 — Melksham Without and Melksham.

2) To authorise the Solicitor of the Council to take all necessary measures to make
and approve the Community Governance Order(s) to bring into effect for 1 April
2021 all of the changes detailed under paragraph 1, subject to any required
consents by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England,;

3) To authorise the Electoral Registration Officer to make any necessary changes to
polling districts to bring them into line with the agreed governance changes, to be
reported to the Electoral Review Committee.

lan Gibbons - Director of Legal and Governance

Report Author: Kieran Elliott, Senior Democratic Services Officer, 01225 718504,
kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix A — Final Recommendations

Page 12


mailto:kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Background Papers

Terms of Reference of the Electoral Review Committee

Terms of Reference of the Community Governance Review

Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

Pre-consultation information pack (24 March 2020)

Consultation information pack 1 (13 Auqust 2020)

Consultation information pack 2 (13 August 2020)

Page 13


https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1450
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecsddisplayclassic.aspx?name=sd4300&id=4300&rpid=21414179&path=14165
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/10387/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s176298/UpdatedCGRInformationPackRedacted.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s180256/Community_Governance_Review_Appendix_A_130820.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s180257/Community_Governance_Review_Appendix_B_130820.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council
———

Community Governance
Review 2019/20

Final Recommendations of

the Electoral Review
Committee

August 2020

Page 15



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Contents
1) Purpose 3
2) What is a Community Governance Review? 3
3) What can a Community Governance Review change? 3
4) The Electoral Review Committee 3
5) On what grounds will a Community Governance Review be decided? 4
6) Backdaround to the 2019/20 Review 4
7) Pre-consultation 5
8) Draft Recommendations 5
9) Preparation of Final Recommendations 6
10) Einal Recommendations 7
a) Recommendation 1 - Salisbury and Netherhampton 7
b) Recommendation 2 - Salisbury 1
c) Recommendation 3 - Chippenham, Lacock and Langley Burrell Without 13
d) Recommendation 4 - Chippenham Without and Kington St Michael 22
e) Recommendation 5 - Manningford and Woodborough 24
f) Recommendation 6 - Pewsey 26
g) Recommendation 7 - Wilcot and Pewsey 27
h) Recommendation 8 - Wilcot and Huish 29
i) Recommendation 9 - Calne Without: Derry Hill and Studley 31
j) Recommendation 10 - Calne Without: Warding 36
k) Recommendation 11 - Trowbridge and North Bradley 40
I) Recommendation 12 - Melksham Merger 53
m) Recommendation 13 - Melksham and Melksham Without 59
11)Summary of Recommendations 66

Links

Terms of Reference of the Electoral Review Committee

Terms of Reference for the Community Governance Review 2019/20

Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

Pre-consultation information pack on submitted schemes, parish responses, electorate projections, public
engagement and survey responses

Consultation responses on Draft Recommendations (online and physical responses input into online

survey)

Consultation responses on Draft Recommendations (Email and physical)

All documents can also be accessed from links available at http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/council-
democracy-cgr

Contact CGR@uwiltshire.gov.uk or CGR, Democratic Services, County Hall, Trowbridge, BA14 8JN for
information.

Page 16


https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=1450
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecsddisplayclassic.aspx?name=sd4300&id=4300&rpid=21414179&path=14165
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-governance-reviews-guidance
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s176298/UpdatedCGRInformationPackRedacted.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s176298/UpdatedCGRInformationPackRedacted.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s180256/Community_Governance_Review_Appendix_A_130820.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s180256/Community_Governance_Review_Appendix_A_130820.pdf
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/documents/s180257/Community_Governance_Review_Appendix_B_130820.pdf
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/council-democracy-cgr
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/council-democracy-cgr
mailto:CGR@wiltshire.gov.uk

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Purpose

. This document sets out the details of the Final Recommendations of the Electoral

Review Committee for the Community Governance Review 2019/20, along with
reasoning and descriptions of the process followed.

What is a Community Governance Review?

. A Community Governance Review is a process under the Local Government and
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (“The Act”), to provide opportunity to review
and make changes to governance arrangements to town and parish councils.

. This is to ensure that they continue to be reflective of the identity and interest of local
communities, and that they are as efficient and effective in their governance as can
be.

What can a Community Governance Review change?

. A Community Governance Review can make a number of changes to parish
governance when there is clear evidence to do so, including:

e It can make changes to parish areas — including: changes to boundaries
between parishes, mergers of two or more parishes, creating a new parish
out of part of one or more existing parishes.

e It can make changes to electoral arrangements within parish areas — including:
changes to the number of parish councillors, introducing or changing parish
warding arrangements.

e |t can accommodate changing the name of a parish.

e |t can accommodate the grouping together of parishes under a common parish
council.

e Other governance arrangement changes.

. A Community Governance Review cannot change the Electoral Divisions of Wiltshire
Council. However, Wiltshire Council can request those Divisions be amended by the
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (“The LGBCE”), who make any
such decision, as a result of a Community Governance Review.

The Electoral Review Committee

. Wiltshire Council established the Electoral Review Committee (“The Committee”) to
oversee any Community Governance Reviews.

. This is a politically proportionate committee of ten elected Wiltshire Councillors to
oversee the process and prepare recommendations relating to any review to a
meeting of Full Council, who make the decision.

. The members of the Committee are as follows:

Clir Richard Clewer (Chairman) Clir Gavin Grant (Vice-Chairman)
Clir lan Blair-Pilling Clir Clare Cape
CliIr lan McLennan Clir Christopher Newbury

Page 17



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Clir Ashley O’Neill Clir Jonathon Seed
Clir Stuart Wheeler Clir Graham Wright

On what grounds will a Community Governance Review be decided?

9. Any decision relating to parish arrangements must ensure that those arrangements:

o Reflect the identity and interests of local communities
o Ensure effective and convenient local governance

10. In conducting a review and making recommendations, the Committee has taken
account of guidance issued by the relevant Secretary of State and the LGBCE.

11. Factors that are not relevant to the statutory and guidance criteria, such as council
tax precept levels, cannot be considered.

Background to the 2019/20 Review

12. From 2017-2019 the LGBCE undertook an Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council.
While this retained the number of divisions at 98, the changes as now approved by
Parliament made consequential changes to many town and parish governance
arrangements.

13. Combined with development growth across existing town and parish boundaries, or
creation of new communities with their own identity within an existing parish, Wiltshire
Council determined that a review was therefore necessary in some areas to ensure
the community governance arrangements were still reflective of local identity and
interests and were effective and convenient.

14. All parishes in Wiltshire were contacted in the summer of 2019 to see if there were
any changes to governance arrangements they wished the council to consider, and a
number of requests were received. A petition was also received in September 2019
requesting creation of a new parish. As this met the required number of signatures, a
review of that area was required to be undertaken. Other requests would be
considered when the council, through the Committee, determined it was practical to
do so.

15.0On 1 November 2019 Wiltshire Council published terms of reference for a Community
Governance Review for the following parish areas:

Calne Without = Chippenham Chippenham Without Hilperton

Huish Kington St Michael Lacock Langley Burrell Without
Manningford Melksham Melksham Without Netherhampton

North Bradley = Pewsey Salisbury Seend

Southwick Trowbridge West Ashton Wilcot

Woodborough  Yatton Keynell

Page 18



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

16. The terms of reference were updated in February 2020 to adjust the timescales for
the review, and further in May 2020 to extend timescales for consultation in response
to the Covid-19 pandemic.

17. The Committee was able to recommend, and the Council to approve, governance
changes which were not suggested by parishes or individuals, if it considered it
appropriate to do so. Any such proposal would have been required, like any other
recommendation, to be subject to consultation before it could be approved by
Council.

Pre-consultation

18. During the first stage of the review the Committee received additional proposals
relating to the review areas. During the second stage the Committee undertook pre-
consultation information gathering, including:

e Sessions between representatives of the Committee and affected unitary
councillors, parish councils and lead petitioners.

e Public meetings in Melksham, Melksham Without, Calne Without and
Trowbridge

e An online survey of proposals received, and a physical survey sent to those
areas potentially impacted by being transferred from one parish to another in
proposals as submitted to the council, or where a merger or creation of
parishes was potentially to be proposed, with links to further information
including electorate projections and council tax implications.

19. There was no requirement under the Act or Guidance for the Committee to undertake
such levels of pre-consultation surveying or notification.

Draft Recommendations

20. At its meeting on 24 March 2020 the Committee considered an information pack
compiling relevant materials from the pre-consultation information gathering including
session notes, proposal details, electorate projections, parish council responses, and
public representations received by email, post or online survey.

21. The Committee agreed Draft Recommendations for each area and delegated
preparation and approval of a detailed Draft Recommendations document to be
consulted upon to the Director of Legal, Electoral and Registration Services after
consultation with the Chairman of the Committee.

22. 1t was also agreed by the Committee that all those who had been written to in
previous stages as residing in an area where they might potentially be moved
between parishes, or where there was a parish merger proposal, would also be
written to with details of the Draft Recommendations. An online survey would also be
prepared.

Page 19



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

23. The Committee was required to undertake appropriate consultation on any Draft
Recommendations. Taking account of the requirements of the Act, the Committee
adjusted the terms of reference for the review to extend the period for consultation on
the Draft Recommendations in light of the Covid-19 situation. The consultation ran
from 15 May to 10 July 2020, though further email and physical responses received
beyond that date were accepted.

24. The Committee was satisfied both that it was appropriate to undertake a consultation
during the present situation and that the consultation which took place was
appropriate. This noted the level of pre-consultation that took place as detailed
above, and additional consultation not required by the Act such as physically writing
to those potentially affected. It also noted the extension to the consultation period,
and that in some areas the lack of a decision would lead to a situation of ineffective or
inappropriate boundaries at the next elections.

25. Although the Committee would have preferred to have undertaken further public
meetings, government guidance during the Covid-19 situation would not permit this. It
also considered that owing to the need for a decision within September 2020 in order
for any changes to take effect for the next elections in May 2021, it would not have
been appropriate to delay a decision by Full Council by suspending the consultation.
In some areas this might result in areas where governance arrangements were no
longer effective or convenient, or not in the interests of the community. It has been
noted that the LGBCE has launched consultations on boundary changes during the
Covid-19 situation.

26. Over 250 responses were received in response to the online and physical
consultation on the Draft Recommendations.

Preparation of Final Recommendations

27. The Committee received details of all responses to the consultation on the Draft
Recommendations at its meeting on 13 August 2020.

28. At that meeting the Committee determined its Final Recommendations, delegating
preparation of a Final Recommendations document to the Director of Legal and
Governance, after consultation with the Chairman of the Committee.

29. This document sets out the full reasoning behind those Final Recommendations,
which will be presented for consideration to a meeting of Full Council on 9 September
2020.

30. Unlike the Draft Recommendations document, except in relation to parish mergers
the Final Recommendations document does not include full details of alternative
proposals which were received and explored during pre-consultation but which were
not recommended by the Committee.

Page 20



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

FINAL RECOMMENDATIONS

Salisbury and Netherhampton

Background
As a result of the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council, the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) imposed

1.
new Electoral Divisions to take effect at the next elections in May 2021. Those new divisions for Salisbury are shown below along with
parish warding arrangements, which were subject to consequential changes by the LGBCE.
Local Government
Boundary Commission
Parish Warding
Arrangements for
Sal‘lsbury Old-Sarum & Lower Bourne Valley,
Wime_rsiow & Upper Bourne Valley
D County ’ o SRR
D Divisions
Parish Ward Pittom&* Earley
LY I Parish ;
QJ Salisbury St \Francis & Stratford
(Q Salisbury Bemerton Heath
@ ED
N
=
Sa\isbyry’Fisherton & Bemermf\\\/illage g,qlisbury M“foré faverstock

Wilton e
. Salisbury

Salisbury.St'Paul’'s
Salisbury St Edmund’s
ED ¢ \ [ Y Elarendon-Park
I . Alderbury & Whiteparish

Wilton

Salisbury*Harnham West
i Salisbury Harnham East

0 025 055 11 Britfa
e Downton & Ebble Valley

gt 2018
- dStoek RMiskarkian
Clelstock Alderbury

Kiometers




2.

o

Bed

)

R

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

The changes resulted in the parish of Netherhampton being warded, with the ward of Netherhampton West in the Wilton Division, and
the ward of Netherhampton East in the Salisbury Harnham West Division.

As the incoming arrangement divided a parish between an urban and non-urban based Electoral Division, the Committee resolved to
survey the views of interested parties on whether it would be appropriate to transfer the ward of Netherhampton East into the city of
Salisbury.

Pre-consultation information gathering

During the pre-consultation phase, representatives of Salisbury City Council indicated that they supported the proposal.
Representatives of Netherhampton Parish Council also acknowledged that the area in question would share character and interests
with Salisbury more than the remainder of Netherhampton parish due to considerable incoming development.

The area in question broadly follows the line of an allocated housing site which has also received outline planning permission for the
development of up to 640 dwellings, contiguous to the built-up area of the city of Salisbury, and a small number of additional dwellings
along Shaftesbury Drove. It was noted that the majority of existing housing in the parish of Netherhampton lay close to the boundary
with Wilton, and the total electorate of the parish was only 119 electors in 2019. The Parish Council had noted that the parish had
closer connections with Wilton than Salisbury.

4 responses were received from the public during the pre-consultation phase, 2 in agreement and 1 in disagreement citing the village
status of Netherhampton. A suggestion was received to amend the proposed area to be transferred to run along existing footpaths
much used by city residents. However, as such an area would lie outside the incoming Electoral Divisions and would not include
sufficient population to be appropriately warded, the Committee was not persuaded that there were sufficient grounds to request the
LGBCE amend its Electoral Divisions. They considered that the proposed line following broadly the line of development reflected the
natural communities of the area as they would exist.

The Committee further noted that the area in question as detailed above would be distinct in character from the remainder of
Netherhampton parish. Updated electorate projections indicated that over 300 electors would be present in the area proposed to be
moved by 2024. Whilst this was a reduction from earlier estimates, the extant planning permission indicated that there would continue
to be considerable development up to and beyond 2024, the period guidance stipulates should be considered when undertaking
reviews, which was a material factor in considering appropriate community governance.

Therefore, the Committee considered the area would be a more cohesive community if joined with the city of Salisbury. It would also
reflect the natural community that would exist, preserve the more rural identity of Netherhampton, and reflect a clear and identifiable
barrier between the two parishes as the extent of allocated development land. It would reflect that the urban community had and was



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

expanding as a result of new housing development and ensure that neighbours were in the same parish. It ensured alignment with the
unitary boundary which would enable effective governance across the area.

9. For these reasons and as set out in the recommendation, the Committee agreed to recommend that the Netherhampton East Ward be
transferred to Salisbury City.

10. Additionally, the areas covered by the other seven Electoral Divisions for the city of Salisbury will each be served by three city
councillors going forwards. The existing wards of Netherhampton East and Salisbury Harnham West were to be served by one and two
councillors respectively, for a total of three. Therefore, the Committee considered that it would be appropriate and consistent to
recommend that the amended Salisbury Harnham West city ward to likewise be served by three councillors.

11. Accordingly, it was considered appropriate to recommend that the total number of councillors for Salisbury City Council be increased
from 23 to 24.

12. Concurrently, the legal minimum number of councillors for a parish is five. Therefore, the parish of Netherhampton was recommended
to remain at five councillors. The scale and geographic spread of the population of the remainder of the parish did not in the
Committee’s view justify any warding arrangement.

o
% Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

%. There were 4 responses to the Draft Recommendations as detailed above. 3 were in agreement, citing evolving demographics and that

W the Netherhampton East Ward was intrinsically linked with the development and infrastructure of Salisbury Harnham West. 1 response
suggested an amendment as a result of some properties being accessible through Lower Bemerton in Salisbury. The Committee took
account of this but did not consider there was sufficient reason to re-consult and propose transfer of any additional areas not within the
proposed Salisbury Harnham West Division.

14. The Committee considered the responses and all relevant factors and guidance and resolved to uphold its Draft Recommendations in
their entirety. The area of Netherhampton East in governance and community terms was more appropriately included within Salisbury
City, it was logical for all city wards to contain the same number of councillors, with a concomitant increase in the total number, and
Netherhampton parish was required by law to contain no fewer than 5 councillors.

Recommendation 1
1.1 That the area of the Netherhampton East Ward of the parish of Netherhampton be transferred to the parish of Salisbury City as
part of the Salisbury Harnham West Ward.

1.2 That the Salisbury Harnham West Ward be increased from two city councillors to three.



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

1.3 That the total number of councillors for Salisbury City Council be increased from 23 to 24.
1.4 That the parish of Netherhampton be comprised of five parish councillors, without wards.

Reasons: Paragraphs 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

on

vz abed

hampton

10



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Salisbury

Background
15. The decision of the LGBCE also saw changes made to the wards of Salisbury City Council. In six cases the new wards were created

to be coterminous, that is, align, with the Electoral Division boundaries. In Salisbury Harnham West this was not possible due to the
Division also containing a ward of Netherhampton. As detailed in Recommendation 1, this is intended to be addressed by transferring
Netherhampton East into Salisbury Harnham West, thus making seven of the Electoral Divisions coterminous with the Salisbury City
Wards.

16. The final Electoral Division, Salisbury Milford, has been divided by the LGBCE into two parish wards: Salisbury St Mark’s and
Bishopdown and Salisbury Milford, with one and two city councillors respectively.

17. There is no detail in the LGBCE report setting out why in this one instance the Electoral Division was not made coterminous with a
Salisbury City Ward, although previously the Bishopdown area was included in an Electoral Division with the Bishopdown Farm region
of Laverstock and Ford parish. As the ward structure was only circulated in the Final Recommendations of the LGBCE, there was no

o opportunity for any interested parties to comment on this arrangement.

g Pre-consultation information gathering

8. Salisbury City Council requested that the wards and the Electoral Division be made coterminous with a single ward of three city
(Nn councillors, in line with every other city ward. During the pre-consultation phase a single representation was received in support of the
proposal.

19. In forming its Draft Recommendations, the Committee therefore considered the current governance situation to be anomalous. It
decided to propose the change to ensure consistent administration, thus providing more effective and convenient governance. It also
considered that it would be more appropriate for community cohesion to not divide the city communities unnecessarily and so
recommended the wards be merged. This would also be in keeping with the approach taken in other urban parts of the council area.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations
20. 2 responses were received to the consultation on the Draft Recommendations, each in support of the proposal. One also requested
the name of the parish be changed to City of New Sarum.

21. The Committee considered the responses and all relevant factors and guidance and resolved to uphold its Draft Recommendations in
their entirety. There were no objections to the proposals which amended an anomalous situation and so improved governance. It did
not consider there was evidence of significant community support for changing the name of the parish.

11



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

% ; LLaverstc
Salisbury Milford

St Edmund’s

9¢ abed

\‘-
Salisbury Harnham E}ist

74

Recommendation 2
2.1 To merge the Salisbury City wards of Salisbury Milford and Salisbury St Mark’s and Bishopdown into a single ward of three
councillors, coterminous with the Salisbury Milford Electoral Division. The city ward would also be called Salisbury Milford.

Reason: Paragraph 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for this change to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Chippenham, Lacock and Langley Burrell Without
Background

22. As a result of the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council, the Local Government Boundary Commission for England imposed new
Electoral Divisions to take effect at the next elections in May 2021. Those new divisions for Chippenham are shown below along with

parish warding arrangements, which were also subject to consequential changes by the LGBCE.
- "‘ﬂ-—-'m:::r ton St._Mic -';?':h_—-"

Local Government i
Boundary Commission Kington

Parish Warding
Arrangements for

Chippenham
D County Chippenham Hardenhuish
D Divisions
Parish Ward
[ Parish Chigpenham Without // Chippenham Cepen Parkj&iDarriads

Chippenham 'Monkton

Chi‘ppenham Shelc‘l‘:on

/¢ abed

Ghippenham

Chippenham-Hardens & Central
Calne Rural

Chippenham Cepen Park & Hunters Mfoon

ED
-on'Chippenham Lowden & _Rowr:len

Chippenham Pewsham

Corsham Without : Lacock




Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

23. The changes resulted in the parishes of Langley Burrell Without and Lacock being warded, with the ward of Rawlings Farm (Langley
Burrell Without) in the Chippenham Monkton Division, the ward of Barrow Farm (Langley Burrell Without) in the Chippenham
Hardenhuish Division, and the ward of Showell (Lacock) in the Chippenham Lowden and Rowden Division. The remainder of Langley
Burrell Without was included in the Kington Division, and the remainder of Lacock was included in the Corsham Without Division.

Local Government ch ¥,P

Boundary Commission e L

Parish Warding Ber

Arrangements for

Langley Burrell

Without i

D County ;

D Divisions

Parish Ward
[ Parish
Kington
QJ gtor t-Michael
(@)
D
N Eaiy
[o's} : .
Chippenham.Cepen*Park & Derriads
Chippenham Hardenhuish
Bremhill Calne Rural
Chippenham Monkton
Chippenham Sheldon J .\’{ " §
0 0475 035 o7 Chippenham;Lowdsnif Rowden Chippen’h,am Hardens & Ceﬁral
Krometers Chippenham Hardens & Central
\ ~
100040422 2018 ] A

14



6¢ obed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

7 . 7,
Local Government Chippe\nham Sheldon A/le:‘,‘pe'p.llim H'Iarqle‘ns %’Gen"al
‘ N

Boundary Commission || Kington Chippenham Without ) _
Chippenham Cepen Park & Huriters Moon

Parish Warding ED
Arrangements for CJhippenham__;.L'owden & Rowden
Lacock : o0/ Chippenham

Chippenham Pewsham

D County
D Divisions

Parish Ward

[ Parish

Corsham

Calne Without

Corsham Without

Lacock

Bromham

i {1 04 0s
Kiometers Melksham Without  pa ks ham Without North & Shurnhold

Contaia D8 data © Crown copyiight and datsbase ight 2018
© Ciown copyright and detabese rights 2018 CEGD

Calne Rural

-
Bremh
"

Bremhi

Bromham, Rowde & Roundway

0040028 208

15



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Chippenham
Cepen
Park &

Derriads

Chippenham
Cepen
Park &
Hunters
Moon
ED

Chippenham
Cepen
Park &
Hunters
‘Iijoori
ED

Corsham
Without

Thingley |umc uur-..-’-

Fa—

o€ abed

Thingley
./;
The [hdge
! Larks MNest Farm
Corsham

Without
Byde Mil'arm

."‘l;
|

Sandpitf Farm

"r llllll Wick Farm
“*Ccorsham
Without
[ Carridge Farm

!

—LMelksham

The WWater Mill  * .
(Lacock Parish) ... ...

acock

Tharch Cottage et

Mursery Cottages

Corsham
Without

“Meiksham

Mead Farm

& Central
h Mew Leaze Farm
it Scoee's Mill
Chippenham N
W
Monkton Calne
ChippenhamiM Rural
Hardens .. !
" & Central Calne
““.”L:LC 2 : Chippenham Rural Stanl
Chippenham Hardens Vi
Lowden & & Central iacher Hinssa . '
Rowden Middie Farm ~ Pound Rty
..‘..'-\,.__.
. Chippenham
J o v Pewsham : p
‘/ The Gabies o N
Milbourne Fagf ore Farm o~
Greean Laad Farm
~ Forest Farr
/" Lojpvden & e
Rmk Forest Gate Cottage
/_Parish Chlppenhems
Ficdie Lodga Farm - Calne
Rural . pery o
Sfowell Farm
Gr Lodge Fa
Calne _“r__ ; gr ]r_”— Derry Hill Farm
Corsham Rural
Without Der
S~
Corsham
e Without
AL Lackharn Houte
Bramble Cotrage Mocketts Hill Farm
Mocketts Hill Loxwell Farm
Calne
Rural Raspberry
= Ash Hill Farm Cal
Corsham -, . M House oo
Without - Maish Il Farm Nethermare Farn RUFAN
Corsham
Notton Reybrid M
VWhite Hall Farm e ' Without Farm
Kennal
: The Bungalow, Plever's F
Blue Barn Dak €k Lencwel
Corsham™™"™" Picrer's Cortages

Without
Cal

Bewley Comman

Corsham, Hu

Without PMickiie Lodge
Bromham,
Rowde &

" Roundway

Melksham
- Without

16



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

24. As the incoming arrangement divided these parishes between urban and non-urban based Electoral Divisions, the Committee
resolved to survey the views of interested parties on whether it would be appropriate to transfer the wards of Rawlings Farm, Barrow
Farm and Showell, to Chippenham Town Council.
Pre-consultation information gathering

25. During the pre-consultation phase representatives of Langley Burrell Without Parish Council and Lacock Parish Council each confirmed
they would be supportive of the areas in question being transferred to Chippenham Town Council, and the Chippenham Town Council
itself supported the proposals.

26. Langley Burrell Without noted that the development areas to the north of Chippenham placed within the Chippenham based unitary
Electoral Divisions would look towards the urban area of Chippenham for services and amenities. It also noted that without a transfer of
the new development areas the parish would find itself split between three separate unitary Electoral Divisions, which would not provide
effective or convenient governance.

27.Lacock Parish Council representatives agreed with the proposal, although they noted that the Showell nurseries area had not been
- included, which they stated this was also part of proposed development.

& Langley Burrell Without
a8. In the pre-consultation phase 3 responses were received to the online survey regarding the two Langley Burrell Without proposals, all
g in agreement, stating new housing developments on the edge of the town should be moved within the town boundary.

29. In forming its Draft Recommendations, the Committee therefore considered that combining the new development areas within Langley
Burrell Without with the rest of the urban area would provide for more cohesive and natural communities reflecting the expansion of the
urban area and eliminate what would be an anomalous boundary. It would preserve the rural identity of Langley Burrell Without, would
reflect a clear separation between the town and the surrounding parishes, and would improve governance by not dividing parishes
between more electoral divisions than necessary or reasonable.

30. Accordingly, for Langley Burrell Without it was recommended that the parish revert to an unwarded parish of five parish councillors.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

31. No objections or comments were received to this aspect of the recommendations. The Committee therefore considered all relevant
factors and guidance and resolved to uphold its Draft Recommendations in respect of the transfers of land from Langley Burrell Without
to Chippenham.

17



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Lacock

32.5 responses were received to the pre-consultation online survey in relation to the Lacock proposals, 3 in agreement for the same
reason as the Langley Burrell Without proposals. 1 response from a Lacock Parish Council representative as noted above suggested
amendment to include the Showell Nurseries area. 1 response was in disagreement, citing house prices and council tax, which are
factors which could not be considered a part of the review. A petition from the residents of Rowden Lane, who would be transferred
under the proposals, was also received. This raised the issues of council tax increases, as well as physical, historic, and community
connections with the rest of Lacock parish such as use of local shops, nurseries, and community events. It also noted the character of
the area as part of the parish and its rural nature.

33. In forming its Draft Recommendations, the Committee did not support inclusion within the proposed area to be transferred to the town
of the Showell nurseries area. The Committee had to consider issues of both effective and convenient governance and community
interest and identity, in the present but also within a period of five years. The area lay outside the Electoral Division boundaries and it
was considered it might be appropriate to consider transferring the area to the town as a developed area in the future. This was

o because it would be contiguous with the rest of the urban area and lack character and interests with the remainder of Lacock. However,

g at the present time it would cause unnecessary administrative and boundary confusion as it would require additional or anomalous

@ warding arrangements or Electoral Division changes.

@. In relation to the proposed transfer of the Showell ward, the Committee noted the line of the ward followed the line of an allocated
housing site in the approved Chippenham Site Allocations Plan (referenced as the Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan in the Draft
Recommendations document). As noted, the Council was required under the statutory guidance to not only consider the existing
position in areas under review but also how the area would change in years to come based on projected development and its effect on
the community, its interests and its identity.

35. The Committee considered that whilst the area in question was largely undeveloped at the present time, significant development was
projected. The characteristics of the ward as a whole would be urban, not rural such as was the case with the remainder of Lacock, as
the parish council itself had noted. Though comments including a petition from local residents in the Showell ward had been received
during pre-consultation information gathering which emphasised community connections with Lacock for a particular part of the
incoming Showell ward, the Committee considered that the developing position of the wider area was such that it would increasingly be
more appropriate for it to be transferred within the town boundary.

36. Accordingly, for Lacock, it was recommended that the parish revert to an unwarded parish of eleven parish councillors.

18



37

38

39

ce abeyd

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations
. There were 5 responses to the online survey during the consultation on the Draft Recommendations relating to the transfer of Showell
ward to Chippenham, all objecting to the proposal. The comments pointed towards the opposition of the local residents, connections
with Lacock including the Rowden Lane hamlet’s heritage status, stating there would be no benefits for existing residents, that the
interests and identity of the area did not support such a change and objecting to the lack of a face to face meeting with the Committee.
Multiple email or letter contributions were also received from residents of Rowden Lane in objection to the proposal, highlighting the
hamlet’s rural status and its history within Lacock parish.

.In relation to a lack of face to face meetings, this was not a requirement of legislation or guidance, and the Committee had undertaken
extensive pre-consultation and consultation with the parishes and the public, as shown by the responses received during both phases,
in order to ensure appropriate consultation.

.Regarding the status of the area in question, the Committee noted that Rowden Lane itself was not to include significant development,
and that indicative plans included a country park as part of the significant housing development taking place within the area that
Showell ward covered.

.Nevertheless, the area of that ward as a whole was, within the required period to be projected, expected to be predominantly urban in
character. Some respondents had suggested an error in the Draft Recommendations for referring to the character of the area as
increasingly urban, but this had been in reference to the area of the ward as a whole, not merely Rowden Lane. The overwhelming bulk
of incoming residents within the period required to be considered would have their interests and identities align with the town as a result
of natural urban expansion, and the country park was an integral part of that housing development area. On balance, and although the
objections of the residents of Rowden Lane were carefully considered, it was not felt there were significant enough connections with
Lacock to overcome the governance improvements of fewer wards and aligned boundaries, and the community interests of the wider
area being more closely aligned with the town.

.In relation to the issue of community interests and identity, the support of the parish council for the transfer as reported to the
Committee was of significant relevance. Furthermore, given the major access to Rowden Lane was through the new housing area, and
the only land link with the remainder of Lacock parish would require inclusion of the country park which was to be an integral part of the
urban extension development, it was not considered appropriate or viable to exclude the Rowden Lane area from any proposed
transfer at this time. The area could not be appropriately warded given its population, and therefore to transfer the other areas without
Rowden Lane would require an amendment of the Electoral Division by the LGBCE. Consent for such was considered unlikely in the
short term, particularly given the initial proposal of the LGBCE had been to include a larger rural area within Chippenham Lowden and
Rowden.

19



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

42. The area was also not a part of the Lacock conservation area, though it was a conservation area, which can also exist within town
boundaries. Given the area covered by the housing site, the isolation from the remainder of the parish, and the unviability therefore of
suggesting amendment to exclude just the area of Rowden Lane as was the case with the Showell nurseries area, the Committee
continued to resolve that on balance the statutory criteria supported a transfer of the Showell ward.

43. Some references had been made to businesses marketing themselves within the parish of Lacock, however the Committee did not
consider marketing strategies could have sufficient weight to oppose a transfer, if considered otherwise appropriate under the criteria.

44. There was also reference to the long history of the area and its connections with Lacock. These connections were a factor which the
Committee took into careful consideration. However, whilst historical connections were of relevance, Community Governance Reviews
enabled changes to parish boundaries where the circumstances had changed for various reasons, including new development, if it
were considered appropriate under the statutory criteria. The Committee considered that the historical connections did not outweigh the
strong governance improvements for the area as a whole, and that the community interests and identity as a whole more suitably now
sat with the town, particular given the view provided by the parish council.

51)5. Therefore, as with the Langley Burrell Without proposals, the Committee considered that combining the new development areas with

% the rest of the urban area would provide for more cohesive and natural communities reflecting the expansion of the urban area and

0 eliminate an anomalous boundary. It would preserve the rural identity of Lacock by providing a clear separation between the town and

B the surrounding parish settlements, would improve governance by not dividing parishes between more electoral divisions than was
necessary or reasonable and so would improve governance of the area.

46. As a result, the Committee considered the responses and all relevant factors and guidance, and resolved to uphold its Draft
Recommendations in their entirety.

47.However, the Committee did consider that the precise boundary should possibly be looked at again in the future, to see if it were

possible to adjust to satisfy current local residents, even though the balance of the criteria for the overall ward justified a transfer at this
time given the administrative constraints, governance improvements and community interests of the wider area.

Recommendation 3
3.1 That the area of the Barrow Farm Ward of Langley Burrell Without be transferred to Chippenham Town Council and merged

with the Chippenham Hardenhuish Ward, to continue to contain three councillors.

3.2 That the area of the Rawlings Farm Ward of Langley Burrell Without be transferred to Chippenham Town Council and merged
with the Chippenham Monkton Ward, to continue to contain three councillors.

20



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

3.3 That the area of the Showell Ward of Lacock be transferred to Chippenham Town Council and merged with the Chippenham
Lowden and Rowden Ward, to continue to contain three councillors.

3.4 That Lacock Parish Council be comprised of eleven councillors, without warding arrangements.
3.5 That Langley Burrell Without Parish Council be comprised of five councillors, without warding arrangements.
Reasons: Paragraphs 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

Ge obed

21



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Chippenham Without and Kington St Michael
Background

48. A request for a review was also received by Chippenham Without Parish Council. This request was that Cedar Lodge, Allington, which
at present lies within the parish of Kington St Michael, be transferred to the parish of Chippenham Without. As well as being within the

Allington Conservation Area the property was stated to be more closely aligned geographically and in community terms with Allington
and the parish of Chippenham Without.

Proposal map — detail and whole parish map

Kington St Michael Kington St Michael

o¢ abed

Chippenham Without

Pre-consultation information gathering

49. During the pre-consultation stage Kington St Michael Parish Council confirmed that they supported the proposal. 4 responses were

received during the pre-consultation online survey. All were in agreement, noting the area was within the Allington conservation area
and its position in Kington St Michael anomalous.

22



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

50. The Committee was persuaded by the argument that the inclusion of Cedar Lodge with Chippenham Without would more appropriately
reflect local identity and facilitate effective and convenient local governance. The property had closer connections with Chippenham
Without and the proposal had cross community support. It would therefore better reflect the community interests and identity of the one
property contained to be located within Chippenham Without.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

51. No representations were received in relation to the Draft Recommendation. Therefore, having considered all relevant factors and
guidance the Committee upheld its Draft Recommendation.

Recommendation 4

4.1 That the area including Cedar Lodge, Allington, shown above be transferred from Kington St Michael to Chippenham
Without.

Reason: Paragraph 84 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

/€ abed

23



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Manningford and Woodborough

Background
52. The parish councils of Woodborough and Manningford each submitted a proposal that an area of the parish of Manningford, referred to

as the nursery barns and garden centre, should be transferred to the parish of Woodborough. It was stated that the Garden Centre and
houses known as Nursery Barns were geographically much closer to the village of Woodborough and commonly referred to as being in
Woodborough.

Proposal map — detail and whole parish map

Woodborough

g¢c abed

Woodborough

_..Manningford. Manningford

Pre-consultation information gathering
53. During the pre-consultation phase both parish councils confirmed they were supportive of the proposal. 5 comments were received on
the online survey, all in agreement with several statements that most believed the area already within Woodborough.

24



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

54. Given the parish councils were in agreement and the lack of disagreement in response, the Committee agreed to recommend that the
area be transferred to the parish of Woodborough as being more reflective of the local community identity. It also recognised that the
area in question represented a section of built up development removed from the rest of the community in Manningford whilst being
closely connected to the community of Woodborough, and would run along recognisable, clear boundaries.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

55.1 comment was received on the online survey during the consultation on the Draft Recommendations in support of the
recommendation. The parish councils also confirmed their support for the recommendation, clarifying the exact position of the boundary
line along the roads in question to ensure effective governance.

56. The Committee accepted the point of clarification when final maps were to be prepared for submission to relevant bodies as this did not
amount to a substantive revision requiring consultation. Therefore, taking account of all responses and relevant factors and guidance
the Committee confirmed their Draft Recommendation.

Recommendation 5
%ﬂ That the area shown above be transferred from the parish of Manningford to the parish of Woodborough.

®
o Reason: Paragraph 84 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
©

25



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Pewsey
Background

57. Pewsey Parish Council had also requested that its two existing parish wards be merged into one. They stated they did not consider
warding of the parish, comprising approximately 3000 electors, was necessary and that the division between the two wards was
arbitrary.
Pre-consultation information gathering

58. The existing wards divide the parish into areas represented by ten and eleven councillors respectively. It was requested that the parish

council therefore comprise 21 parish councillors in a single ward. 1 response was received during the pre-consultation survey, in
agreement.

59. The Committee received no suggestions that the request was unreasonable. The unwarded nature of many parishes along with the
active nature of the parish council and its members as reported was noted.

@. The Committee therefore considered that the removal of wards as requested would simplify the governance arrangements of the parish

‘8 and remove anomalous warding arrangements and consulted on that recommendation.

£ Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

1.1 response was received to the Draft Recommendation in support, and therefore taking account of all responses and relevant factors
and guidance the Committee confirmed their Draft Recommendation.

Recommendation 6
6.1 That the parish of Pewsey be represented by a parish council comprising 21 councillors, without warding arrangements.

Reasons: Paragraphs 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

26



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Wilcot and Pewsey
Background

62. Wilcot Parish Council had requested that the area of the Sunnyhill Caravan Park be reviewed to ensure that all residents were
contained within the same parish. Examples were provided by the parish of council were all the properties included in the parish of
Pewsey, where at present 1.5 properties were located, or the parish of Wilcot, where the majority of the properties were presently
located. Subsequently, the parish council stated evidence showed that the area had already been determined previously to be located
entirely within the parish of Wilcot and believed the existing maps to be in error.

63. The Committee made enquiries with the Ordnance Survey, responsible for holding and compiling maps for official purposes. They
confirmed that they had no record of the area in question being included entirely within the parish of Wilcot, and that a further legal
order would need to be made to enact that position if it was considered appropriate to do so.

Pre-consultation information gathering
64. The Committee therefore included the proposal in its list of surveyed Schemes during pre-consultation. 14 responses were received,
;? with 6 in agreement, 2 suggesting amendment and 6 in disagreement. However, several of the comments listed as in disagreement
% were in fact supportive of the suggestion that the whole area be within Wilcot. The comments on amendment had also included

I suggestion the area was already within Wilcot, which as noted above was not the case.

|6A5. In forming its Draft Recommendation, the Committee noted that most of the area was already within the parish of Wilcot, and that the
connections with the parish of Wilcot for the local community were much more significant than any connection with the parish of
Pewsey, with the current official division of the area clearly being anomalous and ineffective. It therefore agreed to recommend that the
area be transferred to the parish of Wilcot in order to provide more effective and convenient local governance.

66. As Pewsey and Wilcot are contained in different unitary Electoral Divisions, and the area in question would be too small to ward and in
any case warding arrangements would not be appropriate for effective governance, the Committee also agreed to recommend that the
LGBCE be requested to amend the unitary Electoral Division line accordingly.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

67. There were 6 responses during the consultation on the Draft Recommendations, all in support. Wilcot Parish Council also confirmed its
support for the proposals.

68. Therefore, and considering all responses and relevant factors including guidance, the Committee resolved to confirm its Draft
Recommendations in their entirety for the reasons provided.

27



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Proposal - Details and whole parish map (including recommendation 8 relating to Huish)

Wilcot

2 obed

Recommendation 7
7.1 That the area shown above be transferred from the parish of Pewsey to the parish of Wilcot, Huish and Oare (see

Recommendation 8.3).
7.2 That the Electoral Divisions of Pewsey Vale West and Pewsey be amended to be coterminous with the parish boundaries of

Pewsey and Wilcot, Huish and Oare.

Reason: Paragraph 84 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.
28




Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Wilcot and Huish
Background

69. The Committee also considered a request from Wilcot Parish Council to remove the warding arrangements of its parish. It considered
that the warding arrangements were irrelevant to local administration and not conducive to unity of feeling and purpose within the
combined parish. It also requested the name of the parish be changed to reflect the nature of the communities within it, to Wilcot, Huish
and Oare Parish Council, the name under which it was commonly known.

70. In reviewing the request, the Committee established that the parish of Huish, which contains only 37 electors and has been in some
form of joint arrangements with Wilcot for an extended period, had not been officially merged with Wilcot as was commonly understood
by the parish council and others to be the case. In order to give effect to the intent of the request from the parish council, it would

therefore be necessary to formally merge the two parishes, as well as remove the current warding arrangements of Wilcot, warded as
Wilcot East and Wilcot West.

Pre-consultation information gathering
71. During the pre-consultation phase there were 11 responses to te online survey, with 8 in agreement stating the historic boundaries
U were irrelevant to local administration or ineffective, and not reflective of current identity. 2 comments suggesting amendment were in

«Q fact either seeking clarification or supportive of what they believed to be the existing position, which the parish council was seeking to
~ formalise, and the comment in disagreement included no reasoning.

#9. Therefore, and given the longstanding connection of the two parishes, the tiny population of Huish which would not support a parish
council of its own and where a separate parish meeting was unnecessary given the existing ad hoc arrangements, the Committee in
forming its Draft Recommendations supported recommending the official merger of the two parishes into one. It supported
recommending no warding arrangements be in place, as this better reflected the communities in question. It accepted that the current
number of parish councillors was reasonable and should be maintained.

73. Given the extent of the population of Oare within the parish, the Committee also accepted the reasoning that the parish name should
be amended to reflect its significance.

74. The Committee made its recommendation to ensure the area was represented in way which reflected community identity with viable
administrative units for appropriate provision of local services.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations
75.13 comments were received on the online consultation on the Draft Recommendations. 10 were in agreement, noting the simplification
of the arrangements. 3 comments were received in objection, stating the parishes of Wilcot and Huish had different identities and the

29



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

historic situation should be retained. The parish council confirmed its support for the recommendation.

76. The Committee noted the comments in objection, but also that administratively the two parishes were already connected and given the
very small electorate, the historic joint administration of the parishes and the responses received, it was appropriate that the two be

formally merged.
77. Accordingly, after considering all responses and other factors and guidance, the Committee confirmed its Draft Recommendations in

their entirety.

Recommendation 8
8.1 That the parishes of Wilcot and Huish be merged into a single parish.

8.2 For the combined parish to have no warding arrangements, with nine councillors.
8.3 For the combined parish to be called Wilcot, Huish and Oare.

o Reasons: Paragraph 80, 81 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

vt abed

30



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Calne Without: Derry Hill and Studley

Background
78.0n 24 September 2019 the Committee received a petition from electors of the parish of Calne Without requesting that a new parish be

formed around the area of Derry Hill and Studley. The petition contained 673 signatures, with further signatures later submitted. The
new parish was proposed to contain nine councillors, without wards, comprising the area currently contained within the West and

Pewsham wards of Calne Without in their pre-May 2021 form.

J 1

Q-) (! £ s | =
[} aesantn, >0 |
«Q s o ey
D -
-
0] " o
T
"
Calng Without
Legend
D Proposed parish boundaries
mEm:Inu parish boundarias :
| w'iltshire Electioral Divisions 2021 - ety - .
pas - -"'C'_l_:wn'ﬂap'.ﬂgh‘. ard database righis 2020 Oudnence Survey 01000405030

31



ot abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

g = ql;'.-'_‘__ =
Derry 'Hiﬁilx_an:ﬂ Studley
; 3 P
. Nt et - ] }
Legend ' , : e e 2 i %) _ . o - |
Dprnpnm parish boundaries ¢ .. N ,-*'ir ) e .:;, r.\l ; |
Existing parish boundaries T L 1Y # ' it e ] . ! ==, iy
= Wiltshire Electoral Divisions 2021 ;# e ~ k. 1 ; i Ly i T

~ L :' i - ! e T ., et T ?‘-"Crd;\'n Copyright and dalabase rights .2\':}2:! Ordnance 5ur"._'e:,.'_tl‘ll:lua4'§éﬁl;_l, |




Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

79. The request along with further information submitted by the petitioners argued that Derry Hill and Studley made up a viable, identifiable
community and that the large, disparate parish of Calne Without did not reflect its community interests or identity. It was stated that
over time significant development growth around Derry Hill had changed the character of the area from that of the rest of the parish,
and that effective governance would be improved for the area if it had its own parish council.

Pre-consultation information gathering

80. During the pre-consultation stage Calne Without Parish Council resolved to oppose the creation of the new parish, stating that the area
would not be better served by a separate council, and that there would be a detriment to the remainder of Calne Without should Derry
Hill and Studley form their own parish.

81.84 responses were received for the online survey during the pre-consultation with a further 11 written responses. 59 of the survey
results were in favour of the new parish, 22 against, and 3 suggested amendment.

82. Arguments in favour included that Derry Hill and Studley had a very different character and population scale than other parts of the
parish compared to when the parish was formed and that existing boundaries were no longer appropriate. It was stated that the
proposal enjoyed majority support across the Derry Hill and Studley area, and that the remainder of Calne Without would form a
sustainable parish in its own right. It was felt that the new parish would be more appropriate for the community interests and identity,
was more representative and had simpler governance arrangements. It was also stated that the proposal was more locally focused for
needs which would be distinct from other parts of the parish and that at present Derry Hill could be overruled despite forming the
largest part of the parish.

/v abed

83. Arguments in objection included that the area was well served under the current arrangements and would not see improved
governance under a separate parish council. It was argued that the area was stronger when combined with the other communities of
Calne Without, and that the remainder of Calne Without would be adversely affected by the creation of the new parish. It was also
stated that the proposed area additionally included rural elements which would not fit well within the larger Derry Hill if not also within a
wider Calne Without parish which had other more rural aspects.

84. The three comments proposing amendment all suggested that more information was needed before a decision could be made, for
instance consideration of potential merger of the remainder of Calne Without with other parishes should Derry Hill form its own parish.

85. In forming its Draft Recommendations, the Committee noted that in terms of electorate there would be viable numbers for sizable
parishes for both Derry Hill and Studley and the remainder of Calne Without, with over 1000 electors in each, should a new parish be

formed. It noted the significant representations made in the form of the petition in support of a new parish and in representations that
had been received. It considered that compelling evidence had been provided that a new parish would be viable and sustainable, as

33



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

well as supported by a significant number of the existing parish and particularly those within the proposed area of the new parish, with
strong reasoning provided in relation to both governance and community identity and interests.

86. The Committee also noted, however, that the impacts on the remainder of Calne Without would be severe. It had been said that there
would be no community facilities remaining in the parish, with an impact on provision of some local services, and it was noted that
additional requests had been received from Calne Town Council for other elements of Calne Without to be transferred to the town,
potentially reducing the scale of the parish still further. Comments received at various stages had raised concerns to the Committee
about the viability of the parish should a new one be created, notwithstanding the electorate numbers, with some suggestions that the
disparate nature of its communities meant that it might be appropriate for them to be combined with other parishes in the area such as
Heddington or Bremhill, should Derry Hill and Studley form a new, separate parish.

87. Despite the strong case made for a new parish, the Committee therefore resolved not to recommend its creation in response to the
petition at the present time. This was because of the need to further consider the potential impacts on the remainder of Calne Without,
and whether it would be appropriate in the event of creation of a new parish for the remainder of Calne Without to be combined in some

—u fashion with other neighbouring parishes, which it felt needed to be determined at the same time as creation of any new parish. As

% those parishes were not included in the terms of reference for the 2019/20 review, it was not possible to consider and make

@ recommendations regarding those aspects. The Committee did not consider it appropriate to secure effective and convenient

g governance nor reflect community interests and identity by creating a new parish until a wider review could be undertaken.

88. It was noted that whilst a request for a review of an area already reviewed within the last two years could be refused, the Committee
could voluntarily decide to hold another review sooner if it considered it appropriate to do so. Therefore, it determined to recommend
holding a further review including Calne Without, Calne and surrounding parishes when it was practicable to do so.

89. Although the Committee was not required to consult upon a proposal to take no further action at this time, it did include it as part of the
consultation in order to canvass views.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

90. 37 responses were received for the online survey during the consultation. 21 agreed with the recommendation, which included a future
review, with some respondents clear they were in favour of a new parish in principle at the conclusion of such a review and some
others opposed. 1 response suggested an amendment to remove a future review and not support creation of a new parish. 15
responses were in disagreement, mostly as a result of being in favour of creation of a new parish.

91. The parish council supported the recommendation, acknowledging that the Committee had recognised compelling evidence and
support for a new parish council for Derry Hill and Studley, but also the need to consider the matter more broadly in the context of all

34



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

surrounding parishes.

92. The lead petitioner also provided a detailed response, emphasising that Calne Without would be viable in population without Derry Hill
and Studley even if new housing were transferred to Calne town and could easily continue to fund community services, but also
suggested a number of options for a future review if viability was a concern of the Committee. The representation also stated
community cohesion within the existing parish, including cross use of services, was not high which was one reason why the present
administrative arrangement was not reflective of current identity or community interest.

93. Taking account of all responses and relevant factors including guidance, the Committee confirmed its initial Draft Recommendation. As
arrangements for the remainder of Calne Without in the event of a new parish being created had not been consulted upon, it would not
be possible for Full Council to approve its creation in advance of the next elections, as further consultation on particular governance
arrangements for both the new and remaining parish would in any case be required.

Recommendation 9

9.1 To NOT recommend creation of a new parish at Derry Hill and Studley during the 2019/20 Community Governance Review.
)

82 To undertake a further Community Governance Review when practicable, to include Calne Without, Calne Town, and other

i surrounding parishes, so that all potential options and impacts could be considered.
©

Reasons: Paragraphs 63, 73, 74, 80 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews.

35



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Calne Without: Warding
Background

94. A request had been received from Calne Without Parish Council seeking amendment to the boundary line between the existing wards
of Pewsham and West.

95. Although the decision of the LGBCE in the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council had made consequential changes to the parish
warding arrangements of Calne Without, the boundary line between the West and Pewsham Wards had remained the same.

i) '-"- -~ - i \
-* !

Jl) s, <
jab) S
@ -
o L =
o
Pewsham, Ward \Z_°
; West Ward ©
I |
Legend

[_] Preposed parish ward boundaries
_| Existing parish ward boundaries = ! . { : =,

. :\-’Jll'lf. hire Electoral Divisions 2021

-—T-:‘-'\-_

T S CSpTh

36



TG obed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Legend

[]Proposed parish ward bounsaries
q&rﬂm parish ward boundanes

s I-".'-‘-rhhq's Elacioral Divissons 2021

& Crown Copyright and datasase righis 2020 Ovdnante Survey 0100049050

37



2S obed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Pewsham, Ward

Legend
[_] Proposed parish ward boundaries

D Existing parish ward boundaries

JIn e
-4 .-Wihhl': Electoral Divisions 2021

West Ward

Wk iy

© Crown Copyight and database rights 2020 Ordnance $1gi'rg

el
A

¥ 0100045050

38



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Pre-consultation information gathering

96. During the pre-consultation phase the Parish council argued that the existing boundary was anomalous and unclear to residents on the
ground.

97.49 responses were received for the online survey during the pre-consultation phase. 30 were in favour, 1 suggested amendment, and
18 were against. The amendment suggestion was that there should be no wards. Of the comments listed as against many were in fact
comments opposing creation of a new parish, with the remainder stating there was no need for a change.

98. In forming its Draft Recommendations Committee agreed with the proposal and reasoning of the Parish Council that the existing
boundary did not provide effective and convenient governance and was clearly anomalous, and therefore agreed to recommend that
the boundary be amended.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

99.9 comments were received for the online consultation on the Draft Recommendations, all in agreement. One of those comments
suggested that the number of councillors for the wards should also be reviewed.

108. Taking account of all the representations and relevant factors including guidance and noting its intention to review the entirety of the
Q® parish at a future date which would include reviewing councillor numbers, the Committee resolved to confirm its initial Draft

® Recommendations in order to ensure effective and convenient governance.

gl
W Recommendation 10

10.1 To amend the boundary between the West and Pewsham Wards of Calne Without Parish Council as shown above.

Reasons: Paragraph 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for this change to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

39



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Trowbridge and North Bradley
Background

101. As a result of the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council, the Local Government Boundary Commission for England imposed new
Electoral Divisions to take effect at the next elections in May 2021. Those new divisions for Trowbridge are shown below along with
parish warding arrangements, which were subject to consequential changes by the LGBCE, with the arrangements for North Bradley

shown overleaf.

Local Government
Boundary Commission

Parish Warding BradiordonzAvan
Arrangements for Bradford-on-Avon South

Trowbridge

: County
I:I Divisions
Parish Ward

:I Parish

Hilpertoen

Trowbridge Adcroft

G abed

Trowbridge Lambrok
Trowbridge Paxcroft

Winsley & Westwood

Trowbridge Central

Melksham Without West/& Rural

Trowbridge Park

Trowbridge Grove WestAshton' Sguthwick

Trowbridge Drynham

Southiwick
G am s i Southwick

(ISR - N VY S IR |
Filomaters
Candaira 08 rgh 207 i
© Crown an .




GG abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

41



102.

103.

104.

105.

oG abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

As the incoming arrangement divided the parish between urban and non-urban based Electoral Divisions, the Committee resolved to
survey the views of interested parties on whether it would be appropriate to transfer the wards of White Horse (North Bradley) and Park
(North Bradley) to Trowbridge Town Council.

Additionally, a request was received by Trowbridge Town Council for transfer of similar areas of land from North Bradley to Trowbridge,
along with other requests relating to other parishes detailed in the Draft Recommendations document.

The map overleaf shows the incoming White Horse ward of North Bradley Parish Council, which together with the Trowbridge Drynham
ward of Trowbridge Town Council is coterminous with the boundary of the Trowbridge Drynham unitary Electoral Division. Trowbridge
Town Council had proposed a similar proposal for the area, which included only land surrounding the White Horse Business Park and
allocated housing site areas along Drynham Lane.

The map overleaf also shows the incoming Park ward of North Bradley Parish Council, which together with the Trowbridge Park ward
of Trowbridge Town Council is coterminous with the boundary of the Trowbridge Park unitary Electoral Division. Trowbridge Town
Council had proposed including the area within the town boundary. Taken together, the areas include approximately 12-14 electors as
of 2019.

42



/G abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

e

f - '-"':'.-i'..' a-;;

I}'I'I"IH.ITI:I

r}*nham FN:}rth‘L

o

[ rdorr—r .o

vy
Vi '{_—EIJ_ " Ve

,r”';\ : | o, — Frfﬁfl,
; Nﬂrth Braﬁléyﬂh W’ﬂte H:E:rse ._

. rowbridge
Drynham

=
Yo

R
k\ Trowbridge
% Trowbridge
< Park

Maorth
Bradley

Brauiey

North Bradley (Park) \
A

43



106.

107.

108.

gG abe &

110.

111.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

North Bradley Parish Council opposed any transfer of land from North Bradley to Trowbridge, stating that the areas had been reviewed
in 2016/7 and another review was not warranted. They stated that the Neighbourhood Development Plan for the parish was very near
completion, that the proposal did not take into account planning core policies and that there was not a requirement for parish and
unitary boundaries to coincide, with much of the development in the area years away. It also noted at the time of objection that the
Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan had not been adopted.

Pre-consultation information gathering

The Park and White Horse proposals were surveyed separately. There were 11 responses to the online portal regarding the proposal to
transfer the White Horse ward. 9 were in disagreement, 2 in agreement. There were 7 responses to the online portal regarding the
proposal to transfer the Park ward. 5 were in disagreement, 2 in agreement.

In both cases comments in agreement included that new development areas would identify more with the town, and the boundaries
needed to be and likely to remain identifiable. Comments in disagreement included highlighting the village status and mostly rural
nature of North Bradley.

. In considering the matter, the Committee noted that the Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan had received approval from a

government inspector and been adopted by Full Council as of 25 February 2020, and although the line in this area had been amended
slightly, the housing allocation within it was increased. It noted that whilst updated electorate projections for the area by 2021 were
lower than during previous estimates, significant development was still anticipated across the area of the wards by 2021 and 2024. It
had felt that statutory guidance was clear that it was not merely the situation as it existed which was relevant but also any change to the
number and distribution of electors within five years of the start of the review, taking into account planning permissions, local plans and
assumptions.

In relation to Neighbourhood Development Plans, the Committee advised that any adopted plan would not prevent, if appropriate, the
transfer of an area from one parish to another. The plan would remain in force for the area set out for the entire period of the plan
unless the parishes themselves decided to restart the process, and plans could apply to more than a parish area. As a distinct legal
process, it therefore would not obviate the need for an assessment on whether the statutory criteria were met for the purposes of a
Community Governance Review.

Furthermore, whilst it was the case that it was not a requirement that unitary Electoral Divisions align to a parish boundary, the
Committee had to consider whether to do so would be appropriate in this instance. With the area to consist primarily of significant new
development it was considered the nature of the incoming community would find its interests and identity more in line with the urban
area of the town than with the more rural parish.

44



112.

113.

114.

116.

117.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

It was also considered that alignment with the unitary Electoral Division, in this instance, would also provide more effective and
convenient governance by reducing warding arrangements and the split of a parish between urban based and rural based divisions.
Notably, if development in the area were at a slower pace than projected, then the ward of White Horse, which will legally be in
existence for the next election because of the unitary Division, might contain so few electors as to be an unreasonable and unviable
ward. However, projections at the time indicated significant development would take place, further altering the character of the area
from a more rural one.

Therefore, the Committee considered that to transfer the areas in question would be appropriate in terms of community cohesion as
well as protecting the rural identity of the parish. It would also represent what would predominantly be new urban development on the
edge of the town rather than a natural part of the rural parish community, reflected a clearer dividing line between the two parishes. It
recognised the changing nature of the community as a result of development and would provide clearer and more effective
governance.

Taking into account particularly the need to consider the likely position within five years, the Committee was not persuaded by
arguments that the proposals were premature. The Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan had been adopted and formed a relevant
factor, and it was not the case that development was only discussed in general terms for the area.

. Furthermore, in seeking to protect the separate character and distinctiveness of the parish of North Bradley, the Committee felt that its

identity would be under threat if the area in question were not transferred as this would blur the boundary between the two parishes
considerably and alter the nature of the presently rural parish. The separation between the two parishes would therefore be eroded by
not transferring the area as the nature of the area changed in the coming years, which would undermine arguments on maintaining a
distinction between the town and the parish.

The Committee had not supported the proposals from Trowbridge Town Council. Transferring an area other than that aligned with the
unitary Division would require consent of the LGBCE to amend the unitary Division boundary, as the remaining area could not be
appropriately warded separately. The LGBCE had rejected such a proposal when setting the Division Boundary, and the Committee
considered it unlikely they would alter that position given no additional reasoning. It would also result in an even more reduced North
Bradley ward within the Trowbridge Drynham Division, maintaining the split of the parish between multiple divisions, which given other
recommendations would not be providing effective governance.

The area of the Park ward additionally was not only an allocated housing site but included part of an area covered by outline planning
permission for up to 2500 dwellings. Updated electorate projections for the relevant five-year period were reduced, but it was still
projected that significant development would be taking place in the area within the period that was required to be considered, and

45



118.

119.

120.

121.

122.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

considerable development beyond it. This was also definitively an urban extension of the town area and its character and community
would align to the urban area rather than the rural parish.

Therefore, the Committee considered that it was appropriate and reasonable for both the Park and White Horse wards to be transferred
to Trowbridge Town Council.

With the proposed transfer of these two areas and noting the historic lack of warding arrangements for the parish, the Committee
agreed to recommend that the parish of North Bradley continue to be served by eleven parish councillors, without wards.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations

62 responses were received for the online consultation on the Draft Recommendations. 1 comment was in agreement, with 61 in
disagreement. Around 30 emailed or physical submissions were also provided, either in objection or raising legal or procedural matters.
Although the areas proposed to be transferred only involved 12-14 electors, and notwithstanding the overall size of the village, there
was clearly a significant level of local objection to the proposals among the parish area.

Nevertheless, the key question for the Committee was whether the arguments presented and the evidence which existed met the

;? statutory criteria to justify transfer of the areas in question.

«Q

o) Effective and Convenient Local Governance

123 The Committee had considered that North Bradley parish being divided between 3 Electoral Divisions was not an effective or

124.

125.

© convenient governance arrangement. This was particularly so given its history of being unwarded, and that even if development
projections for development before the May 2021 elections were borne out, the parish would find itself with 3 wards of 9 councillors, 1
councillor and 1 councillor respectively, with the vast majority of the electorate at that election within the larger ward. If it were the case
the development projections were not borne out, an even higher proportion of the electorate would be within the larger ward, and there
would be wards with fewer than 10 of the electorate. If the new development was built as projected for 2021 and 2024, the proportions
in the ward would be closer. However, this would be as a result of the changing of the character of the Park and White Horse wards
from very sparsely populated, rural-focused elements, to being dominated by urban expansion.

Whilst it was therefore not a requirement, the Committee considered the statutory criteria would support a reduction in the number of
wards and alignment with the unitary Electoral Division as a more effective and convenient arrangement. The question was whether
there were also factors of community interest or identity to support such a transfer, or whether those reasons opposed a transfer.
Village and rural identity

Many of the comments including a form letter signed by several dozen respondents stating that they wanted to keep North Bradley as a
rural village. Others also expressed considerable opposition to proposals for or the prospect of sizable development in the parish. The
Committee noted these comments and the strength of feeling among those respondents, but it was the case that the outcome of the

46



126.

127.

128.

T9 abed

129.

130.

131.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

review would not impact whether or not there was development within the parish or have any impact upon its rurality. Therefore,
opposition to the principle of there being development or parts of the parish becoming more urban in character would not be affected by
the review.
Most of the areas of the two wards were covered by allocated housing sites or extant planning permissions, and the character of those
areas becoming more urban than rural would be entirely unaffected by which parish they were contained within. It was the view of the
Committee that the evidence demonstrated that within the period required to be considered and increasingly so beyond that period, the
areas in question would predominantly be urban in character, focus, identity and interests.
If there were an argument that the rural and village identity of North Bradley should be maintained and preserved, then the Committee
felt that this would be an argument in favour of transferring the wards in question, particularly the Park ward covered in its entirety with
outline planning permission for up to 2500 dwellings. Without such a transfer, the incoming development which was predicted would
fundamentally alter the character of the parish from that which the respondents wished it to be, that is, a rural village.
Therefore, a dividing line of the unitary Electoral Division marking the town boundary and the parish boundary would provide a
distinction between the rural and predominantly urban areas which would be confused without such a transfer, thereby diminishing the
character and identity of the village as a distinct entity. Existing housing along Drynham lane could at present claim a rural setting, but
evidence from planning projections suggested that this would change within the required period. As such, while a desire for rurality
could not be maintained for all the parish, the proposed transfers would ensure that the parish as a whole remained a rurally focused
one. Even if that were not the case, the area was most accessible from Trowbridge, remote from the remainder of the parish and
separated by the White Horse Business Park which was of a more urban character. A transfer would therefore preserve the identity of
the parish as respondents wished, and not to do so would not prevent the development that was opposed.
Premature
It was claimed by some respondents that the proposals were premature. The Committee considered that the use of the word
‘premature’ could appear to indicate acceptance of the principle of the transfer of the area should housing be delivered within the period
required by the statutory guidance, but that there was disagreement on whether it would be. Even if that were not the intended
argument, the Committee did not agree that that proposals were premature, noting that those making requests could do so after only a
few years had elapsed, when in most cases there would not be significant changes. Small changes in situation could justify a transfer, if
it was considered the statutory criteria were met.
Arguments submitted had emphasised no ‘current’ justification for a change. However, as will be set out below whilst the current
situation is relevant and was carefully considered, the developing situation is also of relevance. Guidance provides that reviews should
include consideration of electorates based on, among other factors, local development frameworks.
Under the guidance Electoral forecasts should be based on information known at the start of the process. This was communicated to all
47



132.

133.

1

w
S

29 abed

135.

136.

137.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

parties through information packs linked in notifications to interested parties. The Committee noted that several parties disagreed with
the forecasts, including updated forecasts, and had regard to those views. However, it did not consider that sufficient evidence had
been provided to suggest the forecasts from Wiltshire Council’s Spatial Planning Team could not be relied upon.

It was additionally stated that until the precise line of where houses would be sited was known, a decision could not be made. The
Committee was not persuaded by this argument given the period which could be considered, which would not have been set at such a
length if such a level of proscription was a requirement.

The parish council had further stated that moving the land would not speed up expansion of the housing supply. This had not in any
case been a consideration of the Committee, which was concerned only with the statutory criteria and taking account of national
guidance. Whilst the parish council made many comments regarding not seeking to prevent all development, the Committee was not
concerned with preventing or supporting development, only assessing the developing situation.

Future housing

. Representations were received stating that the Committee’s consideration of a period of five years from the start of the review was in

error, and therefore there was no justification for the proposed changes for the reasons as set out above. This was not the case. The
Committee was required by paragraph 170 of the guidance to consider both the current position and that within a period of five years
from the start of the review, and this explicitly included consideration of incoming housing development which would have an impact on
the character and interests of the areas. It states: ‘This ensures that the review does not simply reflect a single moment but takes
account of expected population movements in the short- to medium-term’. If only the current situation were relevant there would be no
need for such guidance. A reading of the entirety of the guidance in context, moreover, supported the council’s position that future
projections were of relevance, as per the last review undertaken by the council.

The Committee had to balance these interests. It concluded that on the basis of the governance improvements as outlined, the
overwhelming number of residents of the area would be predominantly urban and look to the town for facilities and interests. The very
small number of present residents, and that many objections received were to the principle of development which was not affected by
the review, added to determining that the changing nature of area was sufficiently strong to meet the statutory criteria in respect of
community interests and identity.

Neighbourhood plan

The parish council in particular raised many objections to the proposals in respect of their Neighbourhood Plan, which had completed
its final stage and was awaiting confirmation in a referendum, which had been delayed as a result of Covid-19. At its current stage the
plan had considerable weight in planning matters.

Nevertheless, a Neighbourhood Plan whether adopted or unadopted was not determinative in a Community Governance Review. The
two were distinct processes, and if it were considered that the statutory criteria for a review were met, a parish boundary could be

48



138.

139.

140.

9 obrd

18

143.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

amended notwithstanding the Neighbourhood plan. This in no way invalidated the plan, which if adopted would remain in effect for the
plan period, or if not yet adopted would not affect its ability to be adopted by those within the proscribed area, noting that such plans
were not restricted to covering only a parish area.

Whilst as noted it was the case that the emerging plan had significant weight in decision making for the area to which it related, the
review would not affect the weight given to that plan, nor would its weight in planning matters mean no review could make a decision on
community governance grounds.

That being the case, the Committee was not persuaded that the status of the developing Neighbourhood Plan could or should prevent
the transfer of any part of North Bradley to Trowbridge, if it considered under the statutory criteria that this was justified. Planning
policies including the Core Strategy referencing the town and the village also did not mean the parish boundaries were inviolable,
otherwise there would be no means to conduct a Community Governance Review at any time, even if appropriate. If it was the case the
local development framework or neighbourhood plans prevented such a transfer, this would be set out in legislation.

The Committee was not persuaded that the plan as a reflection of community of interest overcame the factors in favour of a transfer,
particularly given the review would not have an impact on the plan.

Other Development Areas

. Some comments were received stating that there had been no changes since the last review in 2015/16, and that there was an

inconsistency of approach in including the areas within White Horse and Park wards but not other areas of proposed development
around the town, some of which it was stated were in a more advanced state.
It was the case that there has been a change in circumstances since the last review of the area. The unitary Division changes had
resulted in consequential changes to the parish boundaries with resulting governance implications, the area proposed to be moved
including allocated housing sites or had outline planning permission and were projected by Spatial Planning to deliver housing within
the required periods, which had not previously been the case. The question was whether those changes in circumstances justified the
transfer of the areas under the statutory criteria, not that there had been no change, as this was not the case even though development
had not yet begun.
In respect of other areas of proposed development around Trowbridge, various proposals had been reviewed by the Committee when
preparing its Draft Recommendations. The issue was in recommending a transfer both statutory criteria needed to be met. Other areas
of proposed development included areas where it was not predicted there would be sufficient development within the period required to
be considered to have an impact in community terms, lay outside the incoming Electoral Divisions for Trowbridge and so where to
transfer them would require ineffective and inconvenient governance arrangements, or both. Whilst some of those areas, it was felt,
might be appropriate to transfer to the Town at some point, it had not been felt that this was justified under the criteria at the present
time. The proposed areas of White Horse and Park wards were distinct, in the view of the Committee, in meeting both statutory criteria
49



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

if they were transferred.
Other

144. Several responses were received, and representations made, regarding a number of properties along Woodmarsh set back from the
road which were included in the Trowbridge Drynham unitary Electoral Division and therefore the White Horse ward, unlike other
properties facing onto Woodmarsh where the boundary line ran behind the properties. An amendment was presented to the Committee
at its meeting on 13 August 2020 to exclude those few areas, noting in particular that they were accessed off Woodmarsh.

145. The Committee accepted that there was a stronger argument for the inclusion of the areas behind the houses facing onto Woodmarsh
than the houses that faced on to it. However, those few properties had been included in the White Horse ward by the LGBCE. Given
the timescales of the review and for implementation of any changes in advance of the May 2021 elections, if the Committee
recommended an alternative proposal not including those properties this would require additional consultation before it could be
considered by Full Council, and if consented to by the LGBCE then adjustment, albeit minor, of the unitary Electoral Division.

146. The Committee considered whether, in effect, leaving the entire area of the White Horse ward within North Bradley at this time was

appropriate, as this would be the result of any further delay. Whilst this could be reasonable for the few properties in question, they

considered whether it was reasonable for the projected, more urban properties that would be incoming into the area to not be
transferred as that would be appropriate for their community interests and identity and of the ward as a whole, in the view of the

Committee.

14%. Additionally, the Committee also noted the many expressed concerns that development would not be delivered as swiftly as projected.
Were this the case, not transferring the area of the White Horse ward would mean wards of between 5-10 electors at the next elections.
This would not be a viable governance arrangement, and even if not likely if that was an identified risk, this affected the balance of
arguments.

148. In considering both statutory criteria, the Committee therefore considered that on the whole the character and interests of the White
Horse ward would be such that a transfer was justified. It would be a more effective and convenient governance arrangement. Not
transferring that area ahead of the May 2021 elections would on balance not be appropriate in terms of the overall ward character and
interests and identity and could risk a wholly unacceptable governance situation.

149. However, whilst it considered that the situation and criteria on balance supported a transfer of the identified area at this time, the
Committee did consider that the precise line of the boundary could possibly be reviewed again in future, particularly when the lines of
development would be clearer, and to correct any minor anomalies arising from the lines drawn by the LGBCE.

150. Several responses also raised that the proposals would result in the graveyard of the Baptist church which was set back from the
church itself, being in one parish, and the church proper in another. The Committee did not consider that this was a significant factor, in
particular noting that the area would no matter the outcome of the review be in different unitary Electoral Divisions, and parishes

g abed

50



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

frequently collaborated on issues affecting their borders.

151. There were comments that the proposals reduced the size of North Bradley parish by 25%. This would not in itself be an argument in
support or objection of any proposal, as if it were appropriate under the criteria entire parishes could be merged together, with no limit
on scale of a transfer. It was a question of whether the circumstances in a particular case justified a level of transfer, whatever its scale,
under the statutory criteria.

152. Comments were made regarding Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) contributions and the pooling of those contributions to the town
rather than the parish. In accordance with legislation, the neighbourhood proportion of CIL received by parish councils must be used to
‘support the development of the area’. This means that CIL funds received by a parish council (because development is taking place in
their area) can be used to fund infrastructure in a different administrative area where it will support that development, as well as being
used to fund infrastructure within the parish itself. This principle remains in place regardless of the outcome of the review and helps
ensure neighbourhood CIL funds can be invested in infrastructure projects impacted by development regardless of which parish they
may be located in. There is an expectation in Planning Practice Guidance that parish councils should work together to agree on CIL
infrastructure spending priorities where necessary.

. Specific CIL receipts already committed at the time of any boundary change will need to be considered on a case-by-case basis,
considering their community impacts but also a number of other factors, for instance the purpose of assets, restrictions on disposals,
and monies already spent. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 provides a methodology for resolving
issues associated with parish assets, liabilities, and functions in the event of parish re-organisation.

Recommendation

. In conclusion, and taking into account all responses and relevant factors, including guidance, the Committee resolved to uphold its
Draft Recommendations in their entirety.

155. Although there were significant numbers of objections from local residents, the Committee resolved that for reasons of effective and
convenient local governance, and recognising as appropriate the fundamentally changing nature of the majority of the area in question
in respect of identity and interests, and the detrimental impact on governance of there being no decision at this time, on balance of the
evidence and strength of arguments the changes were appropriate and should be supported. In particular, the proposals would help
preserve the identity and character of North Bradley as a rural parish adjacent to a large town for the long term, whereas its character
and identity would be significantly altered if the change were not supported.

G9 abef:

1

(@2
SN

Recommendation 11
11.1 That the area of the White Horse ward of North Bradley Parish Council be transferred to Trowbridge Town Council as part of
the Trowbridge Drynham ward, coterminous with the Unitary Division of the same name, and to be represented by three town

51



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

councillors.

11.2 That the area of the Park ward of North Bradley Parish Council be transferred to Trowbridge Town Council as part of the
Trowbridge Park ward, coterminous with the Unitary Division of the same name, and to be represented by three town
councillors.

11.3 That North Bradley Parish Council be comprised of eleven parish councillors, without warding arrangements.

Reasons: Paragraphs 54, 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 and 170 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

99 abed

52



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Melksham Merger

Background
As a result of the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council, the Local Government Boundary Commission for England imposed new

Electoral Divisions to take effect at the next elections in May 2021. Those new divisions for Melksham and Melksham Without are
shown below along with parish warding arrangements, which were subject to consequential changes by the LGBCE.

156.

Local Government
Boundary Commission

Corsham/Without

Parish Warding
Arrangements for

Melksham Without

D County
D Divisions I -
Parish Ward MelkshamWithout i = frprofiar
AtRE Melksham Without North & Shurnhold Bromham' Rowde & Roundway
I IParish
Holt

Melksham Forest

/9 abed

p|

-{Meiksham East Bowerhill

Melksham South

Melksham Without West & Rural

Seend Devizes Rural'West

Hilperton

a 0275 055 1.1
S Y [ E—




157.

158.

159.

164.

165.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

The changes resulted in the ward of Hunters Wood, Melksham Without, being within the Melksham East Division, with the remainder of
the parish contained within the Melksham Without North and Shurnhold Division, Bowerhill Division, and Melksham Without West and
Rural Division.

As the incoming arrangement divided the parish between urban and non-urban based Electoral Divisions, the Committee resolved to
review the governance arrangements for both parishes.

Pre-consultation information gathering

During the first stage of the review the Committee received a request from Melksham Town Council proposing that the parishes of
Melksham and Melksham Without be merged into a single parish. This was surveyed during the pre-consultation stage as Scheme 24
Option A. The Town Council also suggested as a potential alternative that the parishes be merged, with the exception of the areas of
Shaw and Whitley, which could form their own parish if desired or appropriate. This was surveyed during the pre-consultation stage as
Scheme 24 Option B.

During initial stages of the review the Committee also received detailed proposals for additional merger options from members of the
public. This included a merger of the two parishes excepting the areas of Shaw, Whitley and Beanacre, which was surveyed during the
pre-consultation stage as Scheme 24 Option C. A further detailed proposal was that there be a merger of the two parishes excepting
the areas of Shaw, Whitley, Beanacre and Blackmore, which was surveyed during the pre-consultation stage as Scheme 24 Option D.

Melksham Without Parish Council did not support any merger proposal option.

There were 253 responses for the online survey during the pre-consultation, with 6 additional representations. Respondents were able
to indicate support for more than one option on the survey.

123 responses marked that they were opposed to any merger proposal. 86 marked that they were supportive of Option A, a full merger,
however several dozen of these also marked they were opposed to any merger, and the narrative responses provided indicated that
opposition to a merger was the principal reason for responding in most of those cases. 30 responses marked that they were supportive
of Option B. 25 responses marked that they were supportive of Option C. 11 responses marked that they were supportive of Option D.

Arguments in support of a merger generally included, but were not limited to, that the boundary between the two parishes had become
anomalous as a result of recent housing development, linking the town with the urban conurbations at Berryfield and Bowerhill,
necessitating joint management between the parishes. Also, with the continued expansion of Melksham, the needs of the combined
community would continue to align and grow, and a combined authority would enable more efficient administration and decision-
making for all the Melksham area communities. Community cohesion would be best served by a single council working together.

Arguments in support of the more limited merger proposals included, but were not limited to, that an area of Shaw and Whitley, Shaw,
54



166.

69 abeyd

168.

169.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Whitley and Beanacre, or Shaw, Whitley, Beanacre and Blackmore, would be able to form viable parishes with suitable governance
arrangements based on closer geographical links and great shares character than with either Melksham town or the areas of the
existing parish of Melksham Without to the south of Melksham. It was argued that the areas contained community facilities, were
already in some cases recognised as distinct through warding arrangements and compared favourably in scale with many other
parishes. Some of the areas would have little new housing development which meant they had different character than other areas
within the parish. Conversely, Berryfield and Bowerhill no longer had significant buffers with the town and looked more to the town for
facilities and services.

Arguments opposed to any merger included but were not limited to that the existing parish contained an effective organisation of
multiple communities which shared the characteristics of being close to but not part of the town of Melksham. It was argued those
communities retained strong identity as their own entities within the cooperation of the parish despite recent housing development, and
that governance for those areas would not be improved by a merger. It was stated those areas which did form part of the urban
extension of the town were proposed to be transferred, but that the remainder formed a cohesive community and that there was no
benefit to creating an artificially large unit.

In forming its Draft Recommendations, the Committee considered the many strong representations from both parishes and interested
parties relating to the various merger options. It was acknowledged on all sides that both parishes were viable and effective entities
which undertook a great deal of work for and in their communities. The Committee therefore needed to determine if there were
sufficient grounds to consider that it was in the interests of the wider community and the smaller communities within it to be represented
by a single council, or a different arrangement of multiple councils. It needed to consider whether this was an appropriate reflection of
the identities of the area, and whether it would improve the effective and convenient local governance of the area.

The Committee noted in the first instance that there was not agreement between the two parish councils regarding the desirability of a
merger, though it also noted that in any such merger it would not be a takeover of one parish by another, but creation of a new legal
entity of shared electorate, assets and responsibilities.

The Committee recognised that identification of a community is not a precise or rigid matter, and that even the focus of day to day
activities may not be reflected in how people feel about their own community identity, for example where local community interest may
lie within a part of a town with a specific identity rather than the entirety of the town, and that it is possible for a parish to be based on
small but discrete housing areas rather than a wider urban area. The key issue for the question of the merger was whether the
disparate communities had sufficient connecting identity and interests, to suggest that one overarching council was appropriate.
Melksham Without Parish was itself an existing example of such an arrangement, comrpising a number of communities not all with
good direct connections with one another, combined for administrative and community purposes. Community cohesion, with people

55



170.

171.
172.

173.

174-U
QD

0/ °b

175.

176.

177.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

having a stake in their local area based on a natural community, were key considerations.

The Committee noted that there were some strong arguments supporting a contention that the Shaw and Whitley area in particular,
possibly including Beanacre, and the Bowerhill area, represented discrete natural communities.

Shaw, Whitley and Beanacre to the north of Melksham Town were considerably smaller and different in character than Bowerhill, and
the area more generally was not identified as potentially to include significant new levels of housing and community development in
years to come as was the case with areas more to the south and east of the town.

Bowerhill, meanwhile, was a sizable community that as a result of infill development was adjoining the urban area of the town and
comprised a significant portion of Melksham Without Parish which might well increase in years to come, much larger than any other
section of the parish.

Both these areas appeared to have a strong sense of identity as discrete areas and had local community facilities and groups for the
provision of services, as to a lesser extent did areas such as Berryfield.

However, whilst the Committee noted that these areas in particular could possibly make a strong case for establishment as their own
parish areas, and had sufficient electorates and facilities to be viable as such, there did not appear to be a significant local desire for
this to be undertaken as an option. There were also strong arguments made regarding the effectiveness and combined community
cooperation and identity of the various Melksham Without communities.

As such, whilst the Committee noted the arguments of the Town Council as to the benefits of a potential merger, particularly with the
larger, more urban area of Bowerhill, it was not persuaded that the evidence was sufficiently strong to justify on the basis of community
interest and identity the merger of Melksham Without with Melksham.

Although alternative, less full merger options had been provided in detail, the Committee was also not persuaded that those options
were justified for the same reasons. Although an alternative balance of the split between the two parishes had some weight of
argument as the Committee had noted above, it was the case that strong connections remained between the various areas of
Melksham Without including Shaw, Whitley and Beanacre, and that there did not appear to be significant support for a revision of those
arrangements.

In recommending that there be no merger the Committee had noted that cooperation between the two parishes on important
considerations was possible without a merger. Although urban extension of the town, which was projected to increase in years to come,
was in some areas making the boundary between the two parishes more complicated, there remained a strong sense of identity for
retention of a separate parish council, and it did not appear that there would be any governance improvements sufficient to overcome

the negative impact for several areas in relation to community identity.
56



178.

179.

180.

ﬁedg

%
MTL®

183.

184.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Furthermore, despite the individual community identities that existed in some areas, the Committee did not consider the evidence
strong enough to recommend significant adjustment of the division between the two parishes as suggested by other merger options.
Nor did it consider that the reduction or elimination of buffer land between Bowerhill and Melksham as a result of development sufficient
grounds to combine that area alone with the town, given the evidence of strong community identity distinct from the town that was
received, and that that identity included its combination with other parts of Melksham Without.

Although it had resolved to recommend not to proceed with a merger, the Committee also noted that were any merger to go ahead
consideration would need to be given to any warding arrangements, which would require consent of the LGBCE, and if partial mergers
were suggested this might also require requesting amendment of the unitary Electoral Divisions. Additionally, there would be a
significant period required to facilitate the legal and administrative joining of the parishes, their liabilities and assets.

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations
There were 82 responses to the online consultation on the Draft Recommendations, and 1 additional representation. 70 responses
were in agreement with the recommendation, 10 in disagreement and 2 suggested amendment.

Comments in agreement included that the town and parish had different requirements and characters and that both parishes were well
served under the current arrangements. The rurality of much of Melksham Without was noted and that this would be preserved. It was
stated that a merger would lead to an unwieldy entity, that the two parishes were able to cooperate fully where needed already, and
that a merger would not reflect the interests of the communities.

Comments in disagreement included that there was much duplication between the two parishes and that amalgamating the two would
be more effective and convenient, as this would reflect that the area was one community with many parts. It was stated the boundaries
between the two parishes at present was unclear, and a single council would have clearer administration. It was also stated that the
outlying communities all looked to the town.

Of the suggested amendments, one was a comment relevant to Recommendation 13 regarding the area north of Sandridge Common,
mistakenly stating it was far from the other areas proposed to be transferred to Melksham. The other suggested amendment was that a
decision regarding the merger be deferred, believing that the impact of Covid-19, allocation of funding for a bypass around Melksham,
consultations on local Neighbourhood Plans, further applications of housing development, and other reasons, meant that there needed
to be further engagement and consideration.

The Committee did not agree with a suggested deferment. There had not been a restriction of opportunity for people to comment on the
consultation, Neighbourhood Plans were a separate process, and reviews should be completed within 12 months and could consider
matters within a five-year period of the start of the review. Any decision would not, in any case, remove the potential for a future review

57



185.

186.

187.

Bed

12.

¢t o

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

of the areas if requested and appropriate at that time.

However, the Committee noted that the possibility of a merger had been explored in depth twice since 2015. Given the reasons for its
Draft Recommendation not to merge the two communities, the Committee considered it unlikely that a further review would be justified
for a considerable time, although this would be for a future Council and Committee to consider.

Therefore, taking into account all the responses and other relevant factors including guidance, the Committee resolved to confirm its
Draft Recommendation. It did not consider sufficient evidence had been provided to justify merging the two effective parish councils in
terms of effective and convenient governance. Nor did it consider that their community interests would be improved by such an
arrangement or that there was sufficiently strong public support for such a proposal, particularly among Melksham Without parish, to
suggest such a merger was appropriate in terms of community identity or interests.

As the Committee had not consulted on the precise arrangements in the event of merger of the parishes, for example warding
arrangements, it would not be possible for Full Council to approve such a merger in advance of the next elections, as further
consultation on particular governance arrangements would be required before such a decision could be made.

Recommendation 12

To NOT recommend a merger of Melksham and Melksham Without Parishes.

58



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee
Melksham and Melksham Without
Background — Hunters Wood

188. The Committee also received requests for transfers of land from Melksham Without to Melksham, requested by Melksham Without
Parish Council.

189. The first of these involved the Hunters Wood ward of Melksham Without, which was to be within the Melksham East unitary Electoral
Division. The Committee had also requested the proposal be reviewed, due to the parish being divided between the town and parish-
based divisions.

I, .ofs 4 e g MelksSham': dom =
! .»' . 3 .! o '__:. °'

Q i L

@ | [

. i

w 3

L
<
. W T
: “‘
".
‘ y
= Melksham Without
Legend ;
. ._Epropr‘:sed p.i,\rish boundaries

59



190.

191.

192.

193.

7/ abed

194.

195.

196.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee

Whilst the Town Council believed a merger of the two parishes was the most suitable option, it had supported the inclusion of the area
of the Hunters Wood ward within the urban based Electoral Division during the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council.

It was stated that the area in question was part of the urban expansion of the town, whose community focus and identity would be
indelibly linked with the town. Its presence within the unitary division also meant that there would be more effective governance if the
ward were merged with that of Melksham East in order to be coterminous with that division.

Pre-consultation information gathering

During the pre-consultation survey 68 responses were received. 30 were in agreement. Of 2 comments stating amendment, neither in
fact proposed any amendment, with 1 supportive of a merger of the two parishes and another commenting on the survey itself. 36
responses stated they were in disagreement with the proposal. However, many comments in agreement and disagreement were also in
fact comments relating to the full merger proposals, though others did comment on the area as an extension to the town through new
housing development.

In forming its Draft Recommendations, the Committee was persuaded by the arguments in support of the transfer, for reasons of
community cohesion, the natural boundary between the town and the parish, governance improvement and recognising the
development growth of the community, noting in particular the support of both parish councils to the principal of the move given
comments during the Electoral Review.

Background — Land north of Sandridge Common
The Parish Council had also proposed that area referred to as the land north of Sandridge Common also be transferred to the town,
and the Committee had agreed to review it as well.

The Town Council, again whilst preferring a merger of the two parishes, had been in agreement that the area represented a part of
urban development growth aligned with the other town communities and had supported its inclusion in an urban based Electoral
Division during the Electoral Review of Wiltshire Council, although this had not been enacted by the LGBCE.

The area in question does not fall within the incoming Melksham East Division, but instead the Bowerhill Division. The LGBCE made
that decision despite Wiltshire Council, Melksham Town Council and Melksham Without Parish Council all arguing that for reasons of
governance and community it was more appropriately included within Melksham East.

460



Community Governance Review 2019/20 - Final Recommendations of the Electoral Review Committee
Melksham
e 2075 Melksham Without

o 1 I . " S S s i

Q | :
@ x
m -
N o

aus SRS EEEN AR ERR AN
= o - o g

Legend B AT

[ rioposed parisn boundaries N _ Lo
mFxlshng pnrl:h boundaries -I:."' s § ", e
"l . I-Ma'lltshll: Eln:r:tural Dr'.'lsu:ms. 2021 i

& Crown Copyright and databas= rig his 2020 Ordnance Su rvey 0100049

|8 =1s]

Cl

61



197.

198.

199.

N
9/0bed

201.

202.

203.

Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

Pre-consultation information gathering

63 responses were received during the pre-consultation survey. 33 stated they were in agreement, 27 in disagreement, and 2
suggesting amendment. As with the preceding proposal, 1 of the amendments was in fact a comment on the survey itself. Another was
in relation to the merger proposal. Many of the comments in agreement and disagreement were also in relation to the merger
proposals. However, there were comments that it was an extension of the urban area and that it would fit appropriately with either
Melksham East or Melksham Forest.

In forming its Draft Recommendations and taking account of the details above and particularly the views of the parish council, the
Committee considered that despite that decision of the LGBCE the evidence supported a transfer of the area from the parish to the
town.

The Committee also noted that the area was projected to contain approximately 172 electors by 2024. To transfer those electors from
Bowerhill Division to Melksham East Division would result in them having variances of -10/11% and 2% respectively. Eleven incoming
Divisions had variances at or over 10%, ranging from -11% to 13%. Given the very strong evidence that the area in question was an
urban extension of existing town communities and of shared character or interest with the town, the Committee recommended that the
LGBCE be strongly urged to consent to the transfer.

If the parish transfer were approved, the Council could then request the LGBCE amend its Electoral Divisions, noting as above that this
would not exceed variances that the LGBCE itself had approved elsewhere in the council area. Further development within the
Bowerhill division was also possible, which would further reduce its high variance over time.

Additional matters

Having made those two recommendations, the Committee had considered whether any additional changes were justified for
governance arrangements. For the town it was recommended that all wards remain with the same number of town councillors, but the
boundary of Melksham East Ward would be adjusted to be coterminous with the Melksham East Division as would be requested of the
LGBCE.

For Melksham Without Parish Council it had been requested that the additional parish councillor who would have represented Hunters
Wood instead represent Beanacre, Shaw and Whitley, for a total remaining at thirteen.

The Committee considered that the proposal was reasonable and suitable for governance, including preventing the dominance of the
Bowerhill ward. It also supported a request from the Parish Council that the ward be named Beanacre, Shaw, Whitley and Blackmore,
to more properly reference all the communities in that area.

62



/] abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

Proposed Parish Map

i ZREr—
fres

|
B | Semitiban
il

W
= @

Proposed parish boundaries

Existing parish boundaries

i

Powerhill b e |
@ Crown Copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Su
L ‘?é““fmm E A AT Ve S




Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

Consultation on the Draft Recommendations
204. 41 responses were received during the consultation on the Draft Recommendations. 32 were in agreement, 7 in disagreement, and 2
proposed amendments.

205. Comments in agreement included that the proposals reflected the changing situation with new development, that the areas aligned
more with the character and interests of the town, that the division of parish councillors as suggested was appropriate and that the
areas were contiguous with the town.

206. Comments in disagreement included opposing the transfer of the land north of Sandridge Common, that a merger would a more
appropriate solution than continually adjusting the boundary between the two parishes, and an objecting comment that
recommendation 13.5 would add an additional parish councillor. This was not the case, as the overall number of councillors for
Melksham Without would remain the same under the proposals.

207. The comments suggesting amendment each requested the area covered by recommendation 13.2, land north of Sandridge Common,
not be included in the transfer. One comment suggested it was too far from other areas transferrable to Melksham East. The
U Committee did not accept that this was the case, noting the views of the parish council and that the area was a new urban development
L(% immediately adjacent to Melksham East and Melksham Forest.

208y Therefore, considering all responses received and other relevant factors including guidance, the Committee resolved to confirm its
® Draft Recommendations in their entirety. The areas in question were built up areas of the town in character and governance would be
improved by changing the boundaries to reflect that position. Adjustments to the parish warding arrangements were reasonable, and it
was appropriate to request amendment to the Divisions to avoid ineffective and anomalous warding within the town.

Recommendation 13
13.1 That the area of the Hunters Wood Ward be transferred to the parish of Melksham as part of the Melksham East Ward.

13.2 That the area known as the ‘Land north of Sandridge Common’ as shown above be transferred to the parish of Melksham as
part of the Melksham East ward.

13.3 That the Melksham East Ward continue to contain four town councillors.

13.4 To request that the LGBCE amend the Melksham East Division to be coterminous with the proposed revised Melksham East
Ward.
64



Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

13.5 That the Beanacre, Shaw and Whitley Ward be increased to four parish councillors, and be renamed Beanacre, Shaw, Whitley
and Blackmore.

Reasons: Paragraph 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

6/ obed

65



08 abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1
1.1 That the area of the Netherhampton East Ward be transferred to the parish of Salisbury City as part of the Salisbury
Harnham West Ward.

1.2 That the Salisbury Harnham West Ward be increased from two city councillors to three.

1.3 That the total number of councillors for Salisbury City Council be increased from 23 to 24.
1.4 That the parish of Netherhampton be comprised of five councillors, without wards.

Reasons: Paragraphs 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.
Recommendation 2

2.1 To merge the Salisbury City wards of Salisbury Milford and Salisbury St Mark’s and Bishopdown into a single ward of

three councillors, coterminous with the Salisbury Milford Electoral Division. The city ward would also be called Salisbury
Milford.

Reason: Paragraph 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
In order for this change to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

Recommendation 3
3.1 That the area of the Barrow Farm Ward of Langley Burrell Without be transferred to Chippenham Town Council and

merged with the Chippenham Hardenhuish Ward, to continue to contain three town councillors.

3.2That the area of the Rawlings Farm Ward of Langley Burrell Without be transferred to Chippenham Town Council and
merged with the Chippenham Monkton Ward, to continue to contain three town councillors.

66



T8 abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

3.3That the area of the Showell Ward of Lacock be transferred to Chippenham Town Council and merged with the
Chippenham Lowden and Rowden Ward, to continue to contain three town councillors.

3.4That Lacock Parish Council be comprised of eleven councillors, without warding arrangements.
3.5That Langley Burrell Without Parish Council be comprised of five councillors, without warding arrangements.
Reasons: Paragraphs 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

Recommendation 4

4.1 That the area including Cedar Lodge, Allington, shown above be transferred from Kington St Michael to Chippenham
Without.

Reason: Paragraph 84 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
Recommendation 5

5.1 That the area shown above be transferred from the parish of Manningford to the parish of Woodborough.
Reason: Paragraph 84 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

Recommendation 6

6.1 That the parish of Pewsey be represented by a parish council comprising 21 parish councillors, without warding
arrangements.

Reasons: Paragraphs 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

67



28 abed

Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations
Recommendation 7

7.1 That the area shown above be transferred from the parish of Pewsey to the parish of Wilcot, Huish and Oare (see
Recommendation 8.3).

7.2That the Electoral Divisions of Pewsey Vale West and Pewsey be amended to be coterminous with the parish boundaries
of Pewsey and Wilcot, Huish and Oare.

Reason: Paragraph 84 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

Recommendation 8

8.1That the parishes of Wilcot and Huish be merged into a single parish.
8.2For the combined parish to have no warding arrangements, with nine councillors.
8.3For the combined parish to be called Wilcot, Huish and Oare.

Reasons: Paragraph 80, 81 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews
Recommendation 9
9.1To NOT recommend creation of a new parish at Derry Hill and Studley during the 2019/20 Community Governance Review.

9.2To undertake a further Community Governance Review when practicable, to include Calne Without, Calne Town, and
other surrounding parishes, so that all potential options and impacts could be considered.

Reasons: Paragraphs 63, 73, 74, 80 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews.

68



Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

Recommendation 10

10.1 To amend the boundary between the West and Pewsham Wards of Calne Without Parish Council as shown above.

Reasons: Paragraph 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for this change to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

Recommendation 11
11.1 That the area of the White Horse ward of North Bradley Parish Council be transferred to Trowbridge Town Council as part
of the Trowbridge Drynham ward, coterminous with the Unitary Division of the same name, and to be represented by
three town councillors.
1.2 That the area of the Park ward of North Bradley Parish Council be transferred to Trowbridge Town Council as part of the
% Trowbridge Park ward, coterminous with the Unitary Division of the same name, and to be represented by three town
D
(o)
w

councillors.

11.3 That North Bradley Parish Council be comprised of eleven councillors, without warding arrangements.

Reasons: Paragraph 54, 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 and 170 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews.

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.
Recommendation 12

12.1 To NOT recommend a merger of Melksham and Melksham Without Parishes.
Recommendation 13

13.1 That the area of the Hunters Wood Ward be transferred to the parish of Melksham as part of the Melksham East Ward.
69



Community Governance Review 2019/20 Draft Recommendations

13.2 That the area known as the ‘Land north of Sandridge Common’ as shown above be transferred to the parish of Melksham
as part of the Melksham East ward.

13.3 That the Melksham East Ward continue to contain four town councillors.

13.4 To request that the LGBCE amend the Melksham East Division to be coterminous with the proposed revised Melksham
East Ward.

13.5 That the Beanacre, Shaw and Whitley Ward be increased to four parish councillors, and be renamed Beanacre, Shaw,
Whitley and Blackmore.

Reasons: Paragraph 73, 78, 80, 83, 84, 85 of the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews

In order for these changes to take effect the Local Government Boundary Commission for England would need to provide consent.

8 abed

70



Agenda Iltem 8

Wiltshire Council
Full Council

9 September 2020

Parish Name Change Review

Summary
To consider proposals to change the names of three parishes or parish councils.

Proposals

That Council:

1) Approve the name changes for the following parishes and parish
councils:

a) Fittleton to be changed to Fittleton cum Haxton;
b) Fyfield and West Overton Parish Council to be changed to Kennet

Valley Parish Council.
c) Cheverell Parvato be changed to Little Cheverell.

2) To authorise the Solicitor to the Council to make any necessary legal
orders and notifications to enact the above changes.

Reason for Proposals

To reflect community interest and identity

lan Gibbons, Director of Legal and Governance

Page 85



Wiltshire Council
Full Council

9 September 2020

Parish Name Change Review
Purpose

. To consider proposals to change the names of three parishes.
Background

. An email was sent to all parish councils on 12 July 2019 inviting expressions of interest
for a Community Governance Review in their area. Further emails were sent as
reminders.

. In response some parishes requested that the name of their parish be changed.
Although this is something which can be changed through a Community Governance
Review, it is also able to be progressed under s.75 of the Local Government Act 1972.

. As that would be a simpler process in terms of structure, consultation and decision, the
Electoral Review Committee at its meeting on 31 October 2019 resolved that where a
request was received solely regarding changing the name of a parish, these would be
undertaken through the s.75 process. This amounted to three requests relating to the
following parishes:

e Cheverell Parva

e Fittleton

e Fyfield and West Overton (Joint Parish Council)

Main Considerations

. In order to change the name of a parish a decision would be required by Full Council,
who would then notify the Secretary of State, Director General of the Ordnance Survey,
and the Registrar General, along with a parish nhame change order.

. There are no specific consultation requirements where a change of parish name is
being considered under s.75, only proscribed notifications after the event as detailed
under Paragraph 5 above.

. However, the Council must have reasonable grounds for making a change that has
been proposed by a parish council. Therefore, a briefing note including details of a
survey on the proposals from the parish councils listed under Paragraph 4 above was
sent to all Wiltshire Council Members and parishes in the council area on 6 January
2020. An online survey was launched on the same date, which has remained open until
10 July 2020. Several reminder emails and were sent to the parish councils involved as
well as mention in other briefing notes including on 6 May 2020.

. S.75 allows the Council to change the name of a parish at the request of a parish
council (or parish meeting if there is no council), which means that the Council may only
approve or not approve that suggested name and cannot substitute some other
proposal. Should a new suggestion arise as a result of a survey or other reason, unless

Page 86



the parish council has indicated formal consent for that alternative proposal it cannot be
approved.

Fittleton
9. Fittleton Parish Council requested that the name of the parish be changed to Fittleton
cum Haxton. They stated the reason for the request was:

Fittleton Parish Council is made up of two hamlets, Fittleton and Haxton. The population
of Haxton is larger than Fittleton and so Haxton residents feel very strongly that they
would like to be included in the name of the Parish Council so that their hamlet is
recognised.

10.17 responses were received to the proposal of the parish council. 15 were in favour,
with 2 against.

11. At its meeting on 13 August 2020 the Electoral Review Committee therefore agreed to
recommend the name of the parish of Fittleton be changed as requested.

Fyfield and West Overton

12.Fyfield and West Overton, which is a joint parish council, requested that the name of the
parish council be changed to Kennet Valley Parish Council. They stated the reason for
the request was:

1) Lockeridge's name is not included, the new name is more inclusive and in line with our
village school and village hall, which both start with 'Kennet Valley'.

2) We are currently in exploratory discussions with Preshute Parish Council regarding a
boundary change to incorporate Preshute into our Parish Council.

13.11 responses were received to the proposal of the parish council. 9 responses were in
favour, with 2 against.

14. At its meeting on 13 August 2020 the Electoral Review Committee therefore agreed to
recommend the name of the joint parish council be changed as requested.

Cheverell Parva
15.Cheverell Parva Parish Council proposed the name of the parish be changed to Little
Cheverell. They stated the reason for the request was:

Little Cheverell is used on road signs, maps, postal addresses and most departments of
Wiltshire Council.

16.No responses were received to the proposal of the parish council. Notwithstanding this,
the Electoral Review Committee at its meeting on 13 August 2020 agreed to
recommend changing the name of the parish as it accepted the reasoning and evidence
that the parish was commonly known as Little Cheverell and this justified formally
amending the name accordingly.

Safeguarding Implications

17.There are no safeguarding implications.

Page 87



Public Health Implications

18.There are no public health implications.
Procurement Implications

19.There are no procurement implications.
Risk Assessment

20.There are no risk issues arising from this report.
Equalities Implications

21.There are no equalities implications.
Environmental and Climate Change Implications

22.There are no environmental implications.
Workforce Implications

23.There are no workforce implications.
Financial Implications

24.There are no financial implications.
Legal Implications

25.This report is consistent with the requirements of s.75 of the Local Government Act
1972. In order for any name change proposal to be in place for the next elections in May
2021, a decision would need to be made before the end of 2020.

Options

26. Full Council may determine to approve or disapprove of any or all of the proposed
parish name changes.

Proposal

27.That Council:

1) Approve the name changes for the following parishes and parish councils:

a) Fittleton to be changed to Fittleton cum Haxton;

b) Fyfield and West Overton Parish Council to be changed to Kennet Valley
Parish Council,

c) Cheverell Parva to be changed to Little Cheverell.

2) To authorise the Solicitor to the Council to make any necessary legal orders
and notifications to enact the above changes.

lan Gibbons - Director of Legal and Governance

Report Author: Kieran Elliott, Senior Democratic Services Officer, 01225 718504,
kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Page 88


mailto:kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix A — Responses to s.75 parish name change survey

Background Papers

None

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Proposal to change the name from Fittleton Parish Council to Fittleton cum Haxton Parish Council

Status of
Comment | Respondent | Agree/Disagree Reasons
| agree that, given the relative sizes of the populations of Fitleton and Haxton, Haxton
1|Representative |Agree should be reflected in the name of the Parish Council.
2|Resident Agree Despite being a mouthful, it is logical
3|Resident Agree Haxton needs to be included in the name as it is in the parochial parish name.
4|Resident Disagree It should be Haxton cum fittleton due Haxton being the larger parish
5|Resident Agree The statement from the parish council just makes sense
Too many things are changing in this area. Leave it alone. It has been known as
6|Resident Disagree Fittleton for years.
7|Resident Agree Makes everyone happy hopefully
8|Interested Party|Agree

Haxton should be recognised as part of the parish council as at the minute they are

U
& 9|Resident Agree not part of any
«« 10]|Resident Agree
—  11|Resident Agree Common sense to reflect reality.
| am a Haxton resident and therefore council tax payer. | would like mu hamlet to be
12|Resident Agree recognised in the parish council name..
13|Resident Agree Makes sense
There are more houses and residents in Haxton, so the name change should be
14|Resident Agree viewed as a positive
15|Resident Agree | agree with the proposal. Haxton should be recognised in its own right.
16]|Resident Agree | am for the proposal as Haxton has a bigger population
From a diverse & inclusive perspective for Haxton residents | agree with the proposal
17|Representative |Agree for Haxton to therefore be recognised when the population of Haxton is greater.




Proposal to change the name from Fyfield and West Overton Parish Council to Kennet Valley Parish Council

Status of
Comment | Respondent | Agree/Disagree Reasons
It is important for the Parish Council name to reflect the geographic area covered and
1|Representative JAgree at present it does not.
2|Representative |Agree The suggested name change is far more inclusive to the surrounding areas
3|Representative |Agree
4|Representative |Agree it is strange that Lockeridge is not part of our name
5|Resident Agree All the reasons already stated above
6]|Representative |Agree Better reflection of the Parish
It would be a more appropriate name so that it includes the hamlet of Lockeridge with
7|Representative |Agree the two village names of the PC and any other areas that may join in the future.
U 8|Resident Agree
Q
@ The local church magazine for the Upper Kennet Benefice is called Upper Kennet
S News. This includes Fyfield, West Overton, East Kennett, Avebury, Winterbourne
Monkton, Winterbourne Bassett and Broad Hinton. By using the words Kennet Valley
it would seemingly appear that other villages are included. Why not change it to
9|Resident Disagree Fyfeid, West Overton and Lockeridge Parish Council instead?
10|Resident Disagree Manton /Preshute has no historic links with Fyfield, Lockeridge & West Overton
The proposed name is certainly more inclusive of the villages involved. We often get
listed under “Fyfield” because it comes first, and no one realises Lockeridge is
11|Resident Agree included at all! This would be a simple solution to the problem




	Agenda
	7 Community Governance Review 2019-20
	CGR_Final_Recommendations_090920
	Contents
	1) Purpose 3
	2) What is a Community Governance Review? 3
	3) What can a Community Governance Review change? 3
	4) The Electoral Review Committee 3
	5) On what grounds will a Community Governance Review be decided? 4
	6) Background to the 2019/20 Review 4
	7) Pre-consultation 5
	8) Draft Recommendations 5
	9) Preparation of Final Recommendations 6
	10) Final Recommendations   7
	Purpose
	What is a Community Governance Review?
	What can a Community Governance Review change?
	The Electoral Review Committee
	On what grounds will a Community Governance Review be decided?
	Background to the 2019/20 Review
	Pre-consultation
	Draft Recommendations
	Preparation of Final Recommendations
	Recommendation 1
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	Recommendation 5
	Recommendation 6
	Recommendation 7
	Recommendation 8
	Recommendation 9
	Recommendation 10
	Recommendation 11
	Recommendation 12
	Recommendation 13
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	4.1 That the area including Cedar Lodge, Allington, shown above be transferred from Kington St Michael to Chippenham Without.
	Recommendation 8
	Recommendation 11
	Recommendation 12



	8 Parish Name Change Review
	Parish_Name_Change_Appendix A_090920


